COURSE GUIDE

EMT 517 FOREST AND WILDLIFE POLICY, LAW AND ADMINISTRATION

Course Team

Prof. Emelue Gideon (Course Developer/Writer)
Prof. Isanbor, Chukwuemeka (Course Editor)



NATIONAL OPEN UNIVERSITY OF NIGERIA

© 2021 by NOUN Press
National Open University of Nigeria
Headquarters
University Village
Plot 91, Cadastral Zone
Nnamdi Azikiwe Expressway
Jabi, Abuja

Lagos Office 14/16 Ahmadu Bello Way Victoria Island, Lagos

e-mail: centralinfo@nou.edu.ng

URL: www.nou.edu.ng

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, in any form or by any means, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Printed 2021

ISBN: 978-978-058-100-8

CONTENTS	PAGE
Introduction	ii
Course Aim	iii
Course Objectives	iii
Working through the Course	iv
Course Materials	iv
Study Units	iv
Textbooks and References	vi
Assessment	X
Tutor-Marked Assignments (TMAs)	X
Final Examinations and Grading	
Summary	

INTRODUCTION

Forest and Wildlife Policy, Law and Administration are a broad term comprising of two different disciplines namely; Forestry and Wildlife.

Forest Policy could be defined as a plan of actions designed to indicate what proportions of a nation's land area should be allocated or allotted. The Forest Administrative Department is the body responsible for implementation of forest policy and forestry issues in any country. Through norms and legislation, financial means, an information and forest programme, forest policy is designed to promote the sustainable management of forest land resources uses. There are different implementations of state forest administration systems in different countries. For instance, in Europe there are different institutional structures and approaches, variation in legal rights and duties between private and public institutions, and also differences in the share of duties between national and local levels. Hence, forest policy means setting public aims and goals for forestry. It also means choosing, regulating and implementing policy for fulfillment of the aims and goals while monitoring the achievements.

Hence the formulation of forest policy should be an interdisciplinary effort. This is because it could require the contribution of an economist, the forest managers, the town planners, silviculturists, forest pathologists to mention just a few.

The terms that often come up in the context of forest policy are values, interests, and conflicts while the main aim of forest policy is sustainable forest management, for the benefit of people and nature. Thus, Global forest policy has become an increasingly important issue, not only because of global climate change, but also because of growing demand for sustainable energy, consequences of globalization, deforestation in the tropics, illegal timber trade, and poverty in third world countries.

Concept of wildlife management is entrenched in three approaches viz: control of wildlife population; maintenance of wildlife habitat; and management of people to protect wildlife, the most critical of which is the last. To achieve human management in a way that strikes a balance between the needs of man and the requirements of wild species, the promulgation and enforcement of adequate and effective legislation could not be over-emphasized.

Wildlife policy is a legal statement that provides a set of orientations and principles of actions to guide and determine future decisions in relation to conservation and sustainable use of wildlife resources for the benefit of society from the social, economic and ecological viewpoints.

It specifically provides guidance for planning, resource allocation as well as legal reforms related to the wildlife sector. The policy represents the consensus among all relevant stakeholders on wildlife management objectives in the country.

COURSE AIM

The main aim of this course is to increase our understanding of the proper management and wise use of forest and wildlife resources through effective policies, laws and administration.

COURSE OBJECTIVES

To achieve the stated aim above, this course sets to achieve certain specific objectives. Therefore, at the completion of this course, students should be able to:

- explain the roles of policies and laws on conservation of forest and wildlife resources
- describe the benefits of forest and wildlife resources to man
- discuss the challenges to the implementation of forest and wildlife policies
- discuss the roles of different institutions on forest and wildlife policies and laws
- list some anthropogenic activities to the proper management of forest and wildlife areas
- explain the global outlook of forest and wildlife sector

WORKING THROUGH THE COURSE

The course on forestry and wildlife policy, law and administration would require that you spend a lot of time to read and understand it. The content of the material is quite broad and detailed and that is the more reason you must find quality time to study it very well. Indeed, efforts have been made to break down the material into units that you will find it readable and comprehensible. To comprehend the course clearly, earnest effort is required from you to understand the technicalities involved. You are therefore, advised to make sure you attend the tutorial sessions where you can interact with your colleagues and compare notes.

COURSE MATERIALS

In order to understand this course with little stress, you will be provided with the following materials.

- Course Guide and
- Study Units.

In addition, a list of recommended textbooks is given in a section of this Course Guide. Although they are not compulsory for you to acquire them or even read, they are necessary as supplements to the course material. Indeed, your reading some of them may give you a better understanding and make you distinguish yourself.

STUDY UNITS

Unit 5

These are the details of the study units that you will have to go through in this course.

Module 1	Forest and Wildlife Resources
Unit 1	Forest Resources and Man
Unit 2	Forest and Wildlife Conservation
Unit 3	Setbacks of Forest and Wildlife Resources
Unit 4	Benefits of Forest Wildlife Resources
Unit 5	Effects of Global Change on Terrestrial Biosphere
Module 2	Forestry and Wildlife Policy, Law and Administration
Unit 1	Forest Policy and Laws
Unit 2	Wildlife Policy and Laws
Unit 3	Forest Administration
Unit 4	Wildlife Administration
Unit 5	Impact of Forest and Wildlife Policies on the Society
Module 3	Challenges to the Implementation of Forest and Wildlife Policy
Module 3 Unit 1	•
	Wildlife Policy
Unit 1	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging Buffer Zones
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging Buffer Zones
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4 Unit 5 Module 4 Unit 1	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging Buffer Zones Conflicts Forestry and Wildlife Outlook Forest Industries
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4 Unit 5 Module 4 Unit 1 Unit 2	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging Buffer Zones Conflicts Forestry and Wildlife Outlook Forest Industries Wildlife Prospect
Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4 Unit 5 Module 4 Unit 1	Wildlife Policy Forest Fires Illegal Hunting Illegal Grazing/ Logging Buffer Zones Conflicts Forestry and Wildlife Outlook Forest Industries

Global Outlook of Wildlife Sector

Module 5 Institutions and Their Responsibilities

Unit 1	Federal Ministry of Environment
Unit 2	Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria
Unit 3	Wildlife Department
Unit 4	Ministry of Agriculture
Unit 5	Universities/ Colleges and Technical Schools

Module 1 focuses on the relationship between man and forest resources. Human activities impacts positively and to a great extent negatively greatly on forest resources which in turn give rise to global warming. It gives you a brief idea of what you are expected to know as you read this material. It is essential for you to know the significance of forest and wildlife resources in our day-to-day life and define how it affects various aspects of our life.

The units provide the vocabulary for describing forest resources, actions and consequences of human activities, a common framework for linking the impact of human activities on the environment.

The first unit of this study material introduces students to the relationship between man and forest resources. The second unit considers forest and wildlife conservation and types of conservation. The third unit describes some of the challenges to forest resources. The fourth unit explains the beneficial roles of forest resources to the society. The final unit explains the effect of global change to forest and wildlife resources.

Module 2 discusses forestry and wildlife policy, law and administration. Definition, formulation and implementation of forest policy and law are discussed in unit 1. Unit 2 focuses on wildlife policy and laws. The third and fourth units' discusses forest and wildlife administration respectively. The fifth unit discusses the impact of forest and wildlife policies and laws on the society.

Module 3 focuses on the challenges to the implementation of forest and wildlife policy. The first unit introduces the students to the effect of forest fires on forest resources and its impact on forest and wildlife policy. The second unit discusses illegal hunting, while the third unit focuses on illegal logging and grazing. The fourth unit explains the effect of Buffer zones and the final unit discusses conflicts as one of the challenge to forest and wildlife policy implementation.

Module 4 describes the outlook of the forestry and wildlife sector. Unit one discuses the forest industries, while unit two explains the wildlife

prospect. The third unit discuses the state of the protected areas. The fourth and final unit discuses the global outlook of forestry and wildlife sector.

Module 5 explains the roles of forest and wildlife institutions. The first unit explains the role of the Federal Ministry of Environment, while the second unit discuses the role of Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria. The third unit explains the role of wildlife department. The fourth role explains the role of the Ministry of Agriculture. The fifth unit focuses on the role of Universities/colleges and Technical Schools.

Textbooks and References

- Adedoyin, S.O., Jimoh, S.O. and Omifolaji, J.K. (2016). Bushmeat utilization in Oban Sector of Cross River National Park- A 'biodiversity palaver'. A chapter in the book "Global Exposition of Wildlife Management". Intech Publishing Company, Janeza Trdine 9, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/66685.
- Adedoyin, S.O., Emelue, G.U., Aremu, O.T (2018): Effective Protection against Anthropogenic Activities of Land adjacent Old Oyo National Park, Nigeria. *Journal of Research in Forestry, Wildlife & Environment vol.* 10(2) June, 2018.
- Adekola, G. (2013). Essence of community development practitioners in the alleviation of poverty in Nigerian rural communities. *Nigerian community development journal*, (Special Edition); 1-15.
- Amissah, L.; Kyereh, B.; Agyeman, V. K. 2010. Wildfire incidence and management in the forest transition zone of Ghana: farmers' perspectives. Ghana J. Forestry. 26: 61-73.
- Archibald, S., Scholes, R. J., Roy, D. P., Roberts, G., and Boschetti, L.: Southern African fire regimes as revealed by remote sensing, Int. J. Wildland Fire, 19, 861–878, 2010.
- Archibald, S., Staver, A. C., and Levin, S. A.: Evolution of human driven fire regimes in Africa, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 109, 847–852, 2012.
- Ashraf, N., Anwar, M., Hussain, I. and Mirza, S., 2015. Population Parameters of Grey Goral (*Naemorhedus goral goral*) at Two Different Sites in Machiara National Park, Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. *JAPS, Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 25 (1), 88-94

Barni, P. E., Pereira, V. B., Manzi, A. O., Barbosa, R. I. (2015) Deforestation and forest fires in Roraima and their relationship with phytoclimatic regions in the Northern Brazilian Amazon. Environmental Management 55: 1124–1138.

- Bellard, C. et al. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecology Letters (2012):1-13.
- Bhupathy S,Nakro V, and P.A. Aziz 2012Strengthening community conservation efforts in Nagaland: A proramme to impart technical support on biodiversity consertaion and livelihood options. Final report submitted to Sir Dorabji Tata Trust Mumbai, pp 184.
- Boucher O, Randall D, Artaxo P, et al. (2013) Clouds and aerosols. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K et al., editors. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Burgess, M. (2012). The challenge in conservation of biodiversity: Regulation of national parks in China and South Africa in comparison. Discussion Paper, Centre for Chinese Studies, Stellenbosch University, South Africa.40pp.
- Crawford, A. (2012). Conflict-Sensitive Conservation in Nyungwe National Park: Conflict Analysis. International Institute for Sustainable Development report. 19pp.
- Cross-River Gorilla, 2010. Bush meat trade Available at: http://www.cross rivergorilla.org/threats/bushmeat-trade.html. Downloaded on 24th April, 2010.
- Dacko, M., 2015. The Issue of Environmental Resources Management in the Light of the Model of Tragedy of the Commons–Systemic Approach. *Problemy Ekorozwoju–problems of Sustainable Development*, 10 (1), 21-30.
- Dieter, M.; Englert, H.; Weimar, H. Wood from illegal harvesting in EU markets: Estimations and open issues. Landbauforsch. Appl. Agric. For. Res. 2012, 62, 247–254.
- Distefano, E. (2010). Human Wildlife Conflict Worldwide: Collection of case studies, analysis of management strategies and good practices. South Africa: 1-34.

Enuoh, O.O. (2014). Buffer Zone Communities, Fishing Practices and Biodiversity Conservation in Cross River National Park, Nigeria. *Journal of Biol. Agri & Healthcare*, 4(22): 1-6.

- Ezenwaka, J and Aiyeloja, A.A (2010): Achieving sustainability in natural resources conservation in Nigeria. In (eds) H.M Ijeomah and A.A Aiyeloja "Practical Issues in Forest and Wildlife Resource management". Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, University of PortHarcourt. Pp 260-278.
- Federal Ministry of Environment (2010). Fourth National Biodiversity Report. Federal Ministry of Environment, Abuja, Nigeria. 79pp.
- Ganby Zoo. (2012). *To the rescue of endangered species*. Retrieved from http://www.especesmenacees.ca/en/excessive-trade.php.
- Gandiwa, E. 2011. Preliminary assessment of illegal hunting by communities adjacent to the northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. *Tropical Conservation Science* 4: 445-467.
- Giglio, L., Randerson, J. T., and van der Werf, G. R.: Analysis of daily, monthly, and annual burned area using the fourth generation global fire emissions database (GFED4), J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeo., 118, 317–328, doi:10.1002/jgrg.20042, 2013.
- H.M Ijeomah, A.U. Ogogo, D. Ogbara, *Analysis of poaching activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria*, Environment and Natural Resources Research, 3(1), 2012, pp. 51-61.
- Hart, J. A. and Kingdon, J. (2013). *Philantomba monticola*. In: J.S. Kingdon and M. Hoffmann (eds), *The Mammals of Africa*, Academic Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- "International Expert meeting on World Heritage and buffer zones". UNESCO World Heritage Convention. Retrieved 24 Nov 2010. Background and contents.
- Ijeomah, H. M., Ogogo, A. U. and Ogbara, D. 2013. Analysis of poaching activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria. *Environment and natural resources research*, 3(1):51 61
- Ijeomah, H. M., Ogogo, A. U., & Ogbara, D. (2013). Analysis of Poaching Activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria. *Environment and Natural Resource Research*, *3*, 51-61.

- IUCN. 2015. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015.2. See http://www.iucnredlist.org.
- Jacob, D. E., & Ogogo, A. U. (2011). Community Participation in Protected Area Management: A Case Study of Cross River National Park. *Proceedings of the 34th Annual Conference of the Forestry Association of Nigeria*, Osogbo, 5-10 December 2011, 412-417.
- Kitoti, A. P., Griffin, C. R and Pamphil, L (2010). Elephant use and conflict leads to Tanzania's firstwildlife conservation corridor. *Pachyderm*, 48:57-66.
- Krawchuk MA, Moritz MA. 2014 Burning issues: statistical analyses of global fire data to inform assessments of environmental change. Environmetrics 25, 472–481. (doi:10.1002/env. 2287)
- "LEDS GP Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use Working Group factsheet" (PDF). Low Emission Development Strategies Global Partnership (LEDS GP). Retrieved 23 March 2016.
- Mbalisi, O.F & Ugwu, A.N. (2012). Ensuring effective forest services to mankind: Implications for environmental education in Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 3 (3); 1-8.
- Mbalisi, O.F. (2013). Environmental adult education: A justification. In B.A. Eheazu; C.N. Barikor & I.S. Nzeneri (Eds) *Readings in Adult and Non-Formal Education*, 93-105. Port Harcourt, Nigeria: University of Port Harcourt Press.
- Ogunwusi A.A. and M.A Jolaoso. (2012). Bamboo, Conservation of environment and sustainable development in Nigeria. *Advances in Arts, Social Sciences and Education* 2(9):346-358.
- Ogutu, J.O., Piepho, H., Said, M.Y., Ojwang, G.O., Njino, L.W., Kifugo, S.C. and Wargute, P.W., 2016. Extreme Wildlife Declines and Concurrent Increase in Livestock Numbers in Kenya: What Are the Causes? *PloS One*, 11 (9), e0163249.
- Proceedings of Wildlife Management Society of Nigeria (WIMSON): "Wildlife Management in Nigeria; the Roadmap for Biodiversity Conservation". September, 2017.
- Schieltz, J.M. and Rubenstein, D.I., 2016. Evidence based review: positive versus negative effects of livestock grazing on wildlife. What do we really know? [online].. Available at: https://org.doi:10.1088/1748-9326/11/11/113003 [Accessed 04/16 2017].

Shindell D.T (2014) Inhomogeneous forcing and transient climate sensitivity. Nature Climate Change 4: 274–277.

- Siyum, B, A., Kassa, B., Sisay, B. and Gebremedhin, A.M. (2015). Farm land conflict and its socio-economic consequences in Tahtay Qoraro, Tigray, Ethiopia. *International Journal of African and Asian Studies* 9: 44 -55.
- Tarnocai C, Canadell JG, Schuur EAG et al. (2013) Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23, GB2023.
- TEEB (2010). The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB.
- Understanding Forest Policy: Arifalo E.I. ISBN 978-8055-35-5
- Vinceti, B., Ickowitz, A., Powell, B., Kehlenbeck, K., Céline, T., Cogill, B. & Hunter, D. 2013. The contribution of forests and trees to sustainable diets, background paper. In *International Conference on Forests for Food Security and Nutrition: Increasing the Benefits for Rural People*.FAO, Rome.
- Wildlife Preservation Law: Wildlife Preservation (Licences) Regulations § 10, 7 LAW OF LAGOS STATE OF NIGERIA (rev. ed. 2003); Wildlife Preservation Law: Wildlife Preservation (Traps) Regulations §§ 1 & 2 (rev. ed. 2013).
- World Bank, 2013. Forest law enforcement and governance. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/forests/brief/forest-law-enforcement-governance.

ASSESSMENTS

There are two components of assessment for this course. There is the Tutor-Marked Assignment (TMA) while the course examination at the end of the course is the second and final one.

TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

The TMA is the continuous assessment component of your course. You need to know that it accounts for 30% of the total score. Normally, you will be given 3 TMAs to answer. You must attempt all of them before you sit for the end of course examination. The TMAs would be given to you by your facilitator and returned to you after they have been graded.

End of Course Examination

The course is concluded by the time you write the end of course examination. It constitutes 70% of the whole course. You will be informed of the time the examination will take place. Note that it may or may not coincide with the university semester examination.

SUMMARY

This course intends to provide you with some foundational knowledge of forestry and wildlife policy, law and administration. By the time you complete the study of this course, you should be able to satisfactorily answer the following questions:

- Discuss the socio-economic importance of forest and wildlife resources
- Discuss in detail the impact of man on forest and wildlife resources
- Explain the various challenges affecting forest and wildlife conservation in Nigeria
- Discuss forest and wildlife conservation
- Explain the different anthropogenic effects on forest and wildlife resources
- Discuss in detail the non-anthropogenic effects on forest and wildlife resources
- Appraise the value and roles of forest and wildlife resources to the growth of Nigerian economy
- Discuss the environmental benefits of forest and wildlife resources to man
- What is terrestrial biosphere and its component
- Explain the effect of global warming on terrestrial ecosystem
- Outline the factors to be considered in making forestry policies and laws
- Explain in detail the tools for formulating forestry laws and policies
- Explain the advantages of an effective wildlife policy in sustainable management of natural resources
- Appraise the role of forest administration
- Discuss in detail the role of the government in forest management
- Discuss the benefit of an efficient wildlife administration to wildlife management
- List and discuss the impact of forest and wildlife policies on the society
- List and discuss in detail the sources of forest fire

• Explain the effect of forest fire on forest and wildlife conservation

- Outline and discuss the reasons for hunting in and around conservation areas
- Explain clearly the effect of illegal grazing and logging on National protected areas
- Discuss the impacts of illegal logging and grazing on wildlife
- Enumerate the benefits of buffer zones
- What is land hunger
- Write out the current status of the forestry industries in Nigeria

I wish you success in this course. In particular, I hope you will be able to appreciate the importance of Forestry and Wildlife Policy, Law and Administration in our day to day activities and in human affairs.

Hope you will enjoy the course

Best wishes.

MAIN COURSE

CONTENTS		PAGE
Module 1	Forest and Wildlife Resources	1
Unit 1	Forest Resources and Man	1
Unit 2	Forest and Wildlife Conservation	5
Unit 3	Setbacks of Forest and Wildlife Resources	9
Unit 4	Benefits of Forest Wildlife Resources	13
Unit 5	Effects of Global Change on Terrestrial	
	Biosphere	16
Module 2	Forestry and Wildlife Policy, Law and Administration	20
	7 Kullingti atton	20
Unit 1	Forest Policy and Laws	20
Unit 2	Wildlife Policy and Laws	23
Unit 3	Forest Administration	26
Unit 4	Wildlife Administration	30
Unit 5	Impact of Forest and Wildlife Policies on the	
	Society	34
Module 3	Challenges to the Implementation of	38
	Forest and Wildlife Policy	30
Unit 1	Forest Fires	38
Unit 2	Illegal Hunting	43
Unit 3	Illegal Grazing/ Logging	47
Unit 4	Buffer Zones	51
Unit 5	Conflicts	54
Module 4	Forestry and Wildlife Outlook	58
Unit 1	Forest Industries	58
Unit 2	Wildlife Prospect	61
Unit 3	Protected Areas	65
Unit 4	Global View of Forestry Sector	68
Unit 5	Global Outlook of Wildlife Sector	72
Module 5	Institutions and Their Responsibilities	77

Unit 1	Federal Ministry of Environment	77
Unit 2	Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria	80
Unit 3	Wildlife Department	83
Unit 4	Ministry of Agriculture	86
Unit 5	Universities/ Colleges and Technical Schools	91

MODULE 1 FOREST AND WILDLIFE RESOURCES

Unit 1	Forest Resources and Man
Unit 2	Forest and Wildlife Conservation
Unit 3	Challenges of Forest and Wildlife Resources
Unit 4	Benefits of Forest Wildlife Resources
Unit 5	Prospects of Forest and Wildlife Resources

UNIT 1 FOREST RESOURCES AND MAN

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Definition of Forest Resources
 - 3.1.1 Timber Products
 - 3.1.2 Non-Timber Products (NTFP'S)
 - 3.2 Wildlife Resources
 - 3.3 Man's influence on Forest Resources
 - 3.4 Community Education
 - 3.5 Linking Forest and Wildlife
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Forests are vegetation types or plant formations in which trees are the dominant species. Forest can be seen as plant community, predominantly of trees or other woody vegetation, occupying an extensive area of land. In its natural state, a forest remains in a relatively fixed, self-regulated condition over a long period of time (Adam in Mbalisi & Ugwu, 2012). Forest and wild resources provide materials for utensils and construction, and contribute to improved diets and health, food security, income generation, and genetic experimentation. These resources are typically associated with hunting and gathering societies where they often have special cultural significance, but they also play important roles in more intensive or specialized agricultural systems.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- define forest and wildlife resources
- discuss the influence of man on forest and wildlife resources
- discuss the relationship between forest and wildlife

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Definition of Forest Resources

Forest resources refers to all products from the forest and its values could be quantified in relation to their benefits to man. The benefits include timber and non-timber products such as wildlife, watershed, fruits, nuts, ropes, leaves, barks, rattan, seeds, wax, gums, resins, honey, edible vegetables, herbs, mushrooms, roots, fuelwood and fibre. Nonwood components of forest resources, the shrubs and herbs form significant portions of food supply for both human and wildlife populations. Seed, pulp, wood and leaves of some trees such as Irvingiagabonenesis and Parkia biglobosa are widely used in Nigeria for food, medicine and as inputs in rural industries. Forest resources provide various materials that meet basic human needs such as food, fuel, fiber, shelter and medicine. The abundant forest resources in Nigeria if properly utilized could enhance and compliment agricultural production, thereby making agriculture sustainable. Resources are materials which man uses to satisfy his needs. Forest resources are materials in the forest which aid man to satisfy his needs and shape his destiny. They are grouped into timber and non-timber forest products.

3.1.1 Timber Products

These are woods (both hard and soft) exploited from the forest for cooking and heating, construction of houses, making of furniture, poles, baskets, boards, ply-woods and wood-pulp for making of papers and textiles.

3.1.2 Non-Timber Forest Products (NTFP'S)

These are a wide array of economic or subsistence materials that come from the forest excluding timber. They range from food or food additives (nuts, muchrooms, wild fruits, herbs, spices, aromatic plants); plant materials (fibres, creepers and flowers); plant derivatives (raffia, bamboo, rattan, cork and essential oils); to animals (games, snails and bees); and animal products (honey, silk etc).

3.2 Wildlife Resources

Wildlife means the native animals of a region. Wildlife includes any animal, aquatic, or land vegetation which forms part of any habitat. Thus, the term wildlife effectively encompasses all forms of life, whether plant or animal which are found wild in nature. This would also include marine, freshwater and coastal ecosystems.

3.3 Man's influence on Forest Resources

Human activities on the environment have affected the abundance of forest and wildlife resources either positively or negatively, since man is the sole care-taker of Earth's natural resources. Farming activities in and around the forest, logging, wildfire, illegal grazing, poaching, and buffer zones all which are activities carried by man affects the relative abundance of forest and wildlife resources.

3.4 Community Education

It is a tool for equipping the grass root people with knowledge and skills on every issue that affect their existence.

3.5 Linking Forest and Wildlife

Wildlife has four basic requirements: food, cover, water and space. Different wildlife species require different stages of forest growth to meet these needs. The arrangement and ratio of these stages dictates the kinds of wildlife that can live on forest land. The key to wildlife diversity and abundance is habitat diversity.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The understanding of the relationship between man and forest resources will enable the wise use of forest and wildlife resources for the improvement and development of the economy.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt:

- what forest and Wildlife resources involves
- how Man influences Forest and Wildlife Resources
- relationship between forest and wildlife

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Discuss the socio-economic importance of forest and wildlife resources
- 2. Discuss in detail the impact of Man on Forest and wildlife resources

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Adekola, G. (2013). Essence of community development practitioners in the alleviation of poverty in Nigerian rural communities. *Nigerian community development journal, (Special Edition)*; 1-15.
- Eheazu, B.A. (2005). *Principles and practice of environmental adult education*. Unpublished Manuscript; University of Port Harcourt.
- Georgia Department of Natural Resources-Wildlife Resources Division –www.georgiawildlife.com,
- IIED. 1995. The Hidden Harvest: The Value of Wild Resources in Agricultural Systems. A Summary. Sustainable Agriculture Programme, IIED, London.
- Mbalisi, O.F & Ugwu, A.N. (2012). Ensuring effective forest services to mankind: Implications for environmental education in Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 3 (3); 1-8.
- Mbalisi, O.F. (2013). Environmental adult education: A justification. In B.A. Eheazu; C.N. Barikor & I.S. Nzeneri (Eds) *Readings in Adult and Non-Formal Education*, 93-105. Port Harcourt, Nigeria: University of Port Harcourt Press.
- Warizeribe, S. M. (2008): Socio-economic impact of community forestry in Iwokiri integrated mangrove resources centre in Bolo, Rivers State. M.Phil dissertation submitted to the Department of Forest Resources Management, University of Ibadan, Ibadan Nigeria.

UNIT 2 FOREST AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Forest and Wildlife Conservation
 - 3.1.1 In situ Conservation
 - 3.1.2 Ex situ Conservation
 - 3.2 Forest and wildlife Reserves
 - 3.3 National Parks
 - 3.4 Challenges to Forest/Wildlife Conservation
 - 3.5 Judicial Enforcement of Park Legislations
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Human activities have increased the extinction rate by at least 100 times more than the natural rate. The increase in depletion and extinction of the world's biodiversity has led to a much greater interest and attention from the global community to protect the environment and safeguard thousands of species.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain forest and wildlife Conservation
- discuss the types of Conservation
- explain the challenges to Forest and Wildlife Conservation

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Forest and Wildlife Conservation

Forest and Wildlife conservation is wise use and the practice of protecting wild plant (Trees) and animal species and their habitat. Forest and Wildlife play an important role in balancing the ecosystem and provides stability to different natural processes of nature. The goal of forest and wildlife conservation is to ensure that nature will be sustained for future generations to enjoy and also to recognize the importance of wildlife and wilderness for humans and other species alike.

3.1.1 In situ Conservation

In-situ conservation is the conservation of species in their natural habitats, is considered the most appropriate way of conserving biodiversity. Conserving the areas where populations of species exist naturally is an underlying condition for the conservation of biodiversity.

3.1.2 Ex situ Conservation

Ex-situ conservation is the preservation of components of biological diversity outside their natural habitats. This involves conservation of genetic resources, as well as wild and cultivated or species, and draws on a diverse body of techniques and facilities.

3.2 Forest and Wildlife Reserves

Forest reserves are portions of state lands where commercial harvesting of wood products is excluded in order to capture elements of biodiversity that can be missing from sustainably harvested sites. Small (patch) reserves will conserve sensitive, localized resources such as steep slopes, fragile soils, and habitat for certain rare species that benefit from intact forest canopies.

3.3 National Parks

A National park is a large, predominantly unaltered area of land and/or sea characterized by exceptional and varied natural assets, comprising one or several preserved or predominantly unaltered ecosystems, and is primarily set aside for the conservation of original natural assets.

3.4 Challenges to Forest/Wildlife Conservation

The major threats to wildlife in Nigeria are loss of habitat, overhunting, and poaching. Wildlife habitat is being destroyed by logging, farming, exploitation for fuelwood, illegal grazing inside wildlife reserves, industrial plantation of exotic trees, housing and highway development. Hunting is a traditional occupation in Nigeria and because of the high demand for 'bushmeat', trophies and animal parts as ingredients of medicinal and magical concoctions; hunters are assured of a lucrative market.

3.5 Judicial Enforcement of Park Legislations

For effective enforcement of park laws and legislations as well as wildlife laws, judiciary is important. However, respondents have complained that the judiciary appears not to understand the dynamics of

National parks and conservation laws and as such poor adjudication has been prominent even with incontrovertible evidences against the accused.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The knowledge of forest and wildlife conservation will prove to be invaluable assets not only for the economy growth of the country but most importantly for the preservation of this precious heritage.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- forest and Wildlife Conservation
- the types of Conservation
- the challenges to Forest and Wildlife Conservation

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Explain the various challenges affecting forest and wildlife conservation in Nigeria
- 2. Discuss Forest and Wildlife conservation
- 3. List the various National Parks in Nigeria and the Socioeconomic benefit

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Anderson, M.G. and S.L. Bernstein (eds.). 2003. Planning methods for eco-regional targets: Matrix-forming ecosystems. The Nature Conservancy, Conservation Science Support, Northeast & Caribbean Division, Boston, MA.

Burgess. M. (2012). The challenge in conservation of biodiversity: Regulation of National parks in China and South Africa in comparison. Discussion paper, Centre for Chinese Studies, Stellenbosch University, South Africa. 40pp.

"Cooperative Alliance for Refuge Enhancement". *CARE*. Retrieved 1 June 2012.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005. Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing: General Synthesis, MEA, Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, Island Press, Washington, DC. 155pp.

Pitman, T. (2010). In Congo forest, bushmeat trade threatens Pygmies, Associated Press. 4 July.

"Wildlife Conservation". Conservation and Wildlife. Retrieved 1 June 2012.

UNIT 3 SETBACKS OF FOREST/WILDLIFE RESOURCES

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Drought
 - 3.2 Flood
 - 3.3 Erosion and Sedimentation
 - 3.4 Deforestation
 - 3.5 Excessive Hunting
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Human beings have seriously encroached into many wildlife habitats and permanently occupied lands formally inhabited by wild animals (Ijeomah and Aiyeloja, 2010). This has led to wanton destruction and emigration of wildlife species (part of our national heritage) to more stable ecosystems. Through creation of wildlife refuges in form of game reserves and national parks rural inhabitants were forced to vacate part of their 'acquired life – dependent' land and other part of environment for wildlife species, in many cases without compensation (Adetoro et al., 2011).

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the non-anthropogenic effect on Forest and wildlife resources
- explain the anthropogenic effect on Forest and wildlife resources

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Drought

Prolonged absence of rainfall impacts negatively on forest and wildlife resources. Plants such as shrubs, herbs and trees will lack water which it needs for its growth. This will lead to poor shelter and cover for the wildlife which they need for their survival, therefore necessitating the migration of wildlife.

3.2 Flood

It is commonly believed that forests are necessary to regulate stream flow and reduce runoff, and to some extent this is true. But, in reality, forests tend to be rather extravagant users of water, which is contradictory to earlier thinking (FAO 2003).

3.3 Erosion and sedimentation

It is widely perceived that forests can control erosion and sediment processes. While forest cover does tend to check erosion, it is not the tree canopy that is directly responsible for this; rather it is the undergrowth and forest litter.

3.4 Deforestation

Deforestation is a conventional environmental challenge substantially affecting the resilience and distribution of forests across different boundaries. It is simply defined as the loss of trees' cover usually as a result of forests being cleared for other land uses (Gorte and Sheikh, 2010). In the drier areas of the tropics, fuelwood gathering can be a major cause of deforestation and degradation of the forest (Chakravarty *et al*, 2014).

3.5 Excessive Hunting

According to the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), 1169 of the world's 4556 assessed terrestrial mammals (approx. 26%) are listed as threatened with extinction. Excessive hunting refers to unregulated hunting that is indiscriminately carried without authorization or with inappropriate hunting equipment.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The setbacks of forest and wildlife resources can be curbed with more education to the local dwellers around the forest or conservation.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the anthropogenic effects on forest and Wildlife resources
- the non- anthropogenic effects

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. Explain the different anthropogenic effect on forest and wildlife resources

2. Discuss in detail the non- anthropogenic effect on forest and wildlife resources

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Adetoro, A. O., Oyeleye, D. O. and Ijeomah, H. M. 2011. Causes and impacts of conflicts on biodiversity management at the Buffer zone of Old Oyo National Park, Oyo State, *African Research Review* 5 (1):485 –491
- Chakravarty, S., Ghosh, S. K., Suresh, C. P., Dey, A, N., Shukla, G. (2014). Deforestation: causes, effect and control strategies. www.intechopen.com/download/pdf/36125. Cited 9-01-2014.
- Desprez-Loustau M.-L., Marçais B., Nageleisen L.-M., Piou D., Vannini A., Interactive effects of drought and pathogens in forest trees, Ann. For. Sci. 63 (2006) 595–610.
- Gorte, R.W and Sheikh, P. A (2010) Deforestation and Climate Change, Congressional Research Service, March 24, 2010. Retrieved on 23rd March, 2012, from http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R41144.pdf.
- Ijeomah, H. M. and Aiyeloja, A. A. 2010. Ecotourism: An instrument for combating renewable natural resources degradation pp.441 470 In: Ijeomah, H.M. and Aiyeloja (Eds.) .2010. *Practical Issues in Forest and Wildlife Resources Management*, Green Canopy Consultants, Port Harcourt, Rivers State.
- Ijeomah, H. M.2012. Challenges of game reserves in Nigeria: A case study of Pai river Wildlife Park of Plateau State In: Ijeomah, H. M. and Aiyeloja, A. A. (Eds.), *Challenges to Sustainable Productions in Agriculture and Environment: Nigeria in Perspective*, Top Base Nigeria Limited, Lagos. In conjunction with Green Canopy Consultants, Port Harcourt.
- Inamdar, A. and Cobb, S. (1998) 'Wildlife as wealth: Can wildlife contribute to poverty elimination?' Wildlife Issues Paper, Linking Policy and Practice in Biodiversity. London: DFID.
- IUCN. 2015. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015.2. See http://www.iucnredlist.org

UNIT 4 BENEFITS OF FOREST AND WILDLIFE RESOURCES

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Cultural Benefit
 - 3.1.1 Sacred Groove
 - 3.1.2 Sanctuaries
 - 3.2 Commercial Benefit
 - 3.3 Recreational Benefit
 - 3.4 Flood Control
 - 3.5 Research Purpose
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

In addition to providing people with wood and other plant products for food, construction and income, and ecosystem services such as freshwater, soil protection and climate regulation, forests are also major habitat for wildlife. Wildlife likewise provides both products (e.g honey, bush meat, even edible insects), and ecosystem services (e.g pollination and seed dispersal). On a global scale, the goods and services provided by forest and wildlife resources are worth billions of dollars. Added to this is their cultural and spiritual value which cannot be monetized.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the cultural benefits of forest and wildlife resources
- explain the commercial benefits of forest and wildlife resources
- explain the recreational benefits of forest and wildlife resources

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Cultural Benefit

Cultural benefits refers to the nonmaterial benefits that people obtain from ecosystems through spiritual enrichment, cognitive development,

reflection, recreation and aesthetic experience, including, for example, knowledge systems, social relations, and aesthetic values.

3.1.1 Sacred Groove

Sacred groves are tracts of virgin forest with rich diversity, which have been protected by the local people for centuries for their cultural and religious beliefs and taboos that the deities reside in them and protect the villagers from different calamities. Every sacred grove carries its own legends, lore, and myths which form the integral part of the sacred grove.

3.1.2 Sanctuaries

Sanctuary is an area which is of adequate ecological, faunal, floral, geomorphological, natural or zoological significance. The Sanctuary is declared for the purpose of protecting, propagating or developing wildlife or its environment. Certain rights of people living inside the Sanctuary could be permitted.

3.2 Commercial Benefit

There is strong evidence that as national incomes increase, rates of under-nutrition fall. Income is clearly an important factor contributing to falling global rates of undernutrition (FAO 2012). Forest income contributes about 1/5th of the income of rural households in developing countries.

3.3 Recreational Benefit

The social values of forest recreation deal mainly with intangible benefits such as aesthetic qualities as well as the enhancement of psychological and physical health (e.g. Tyrväinen *et al.*, 2005; Ward Thompson 2007). Forests, especially within or near urban areas, provide aesthetic enjoyment and create a pleasant environment for many outdoor activities. Forest and wildlife together provides recreational activities such as hunting, photography, relaxation, hiking and bird catching.

3.4 Flood Control

It is commonly believed that forests are necessary to regulate stream flow and reduce runoff, and to some extent this is true. But, in reality, forests tend to be rather extravagant users of water, which is contradictory to earlier thinking (FAO 2003). Considerable quantities of rainfall (up to 35 per cent) are commonly intercepted by the canopies of

tropical forests and evaporated back into the atmosphere without contributing to soil water reserves.

3.5 Research Purpose

Forest and wildlife provides an abundant array for study, projects and learning. Till date Man has not fully tapped from the vast varieties of both forest and wildlife resources.

4.0 Conclusion

From the fore going the cultural, commercial, aesthetics, academic and economic benefits of forest and wildlife resources cannot be over-emphasized. Man will continue to depend on these nature reserves.

5.0 Summary

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the cultural aspect of forest and Wildlife resources
- the commercial aspect of forest and Wildlife resources
- the recreational, environmental as well as the academical aspects of forest and Wildlife resources

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Appraise the value of forest and wildlife resources to the growth of Nigerian economy
- 2. Discuss the Environmental benefits of Forest and wildlife resources to Man

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Bhupathy S,Nakro V, and P.A. Aziz 2012Strengthening community conservation efforts in Nagaland: A proramme to impart technical support on biodiversity conservation and livelihood options. Final report submitted to Sir Dorabji Tata Trust Mumbai, pp 184.
- FAO. 2003. *State of the World's Forests*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Johnson, D.V. 2010. The contribution of edible forest insects to human nutrition and to forest management: Current status and future potential 5. *In* P.B. Durst, D.V. Johnson, R.N. Leslie & K. Shono, eds. *Forest insects as food: Humans bite back. Proceedings of a*

workshop on asia-pacific 21 resources and their potential for development, 19-21 february 2008., 5-22. Food and Agriculture Organiation of the United Nations, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, Chiang Mai, Thailand.

- Khan, M.L., Arunachalam, A. and Barbhuiya, A.R. 2007. Web-GIS Digital Atlas of the Sacred Groves of the North-East India: Pilot study with Sacred Groves of Arunachal Pradesh. Technical Report. Department of Scientific & Industrial Research, Ministry of Science & Technology, Govt. of India (Sanction No. DSIR/Web/TIF026/2004-2005 Dated 31.12.2004).
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. 2005. Ecosystems and human wellbeing: Health synthesis and biodiversity synthesis. WHO (world Health Organization), World Research Institute, Geneva, Switzerland.
- TEEB (2010). The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB.
- Tyrväinen, L., Pauleit, S., Seeland, K. and de Vries, S. (2005) Benefits and uses of urban forests and trees. In: K. Nilsson, T.B. Randrup and C.C. Konijnendijk (eds). Urban Forests and Trees in Europe: A Reference Book. Springer Verlag, pp 81–114.
- Vinceti, B., Ickowitz, A., Powell, B., Kehlenbeck, K., Céline, T., Cogill, B. & Hunter, D. 2013. The contribution of forests and trees to sustainable diets, background paper. In *International Conference on Forests for Food Security and Nutrition: Increasing the Benefits for Rural People*.FAO, Rome.

UNIT 5 Effects of Global Change on Terrestrial Biosphere

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Terrestrial Biosphere
 - 3.2 Global Change Effect
 - 3.3 Climate Change
 - 3.3.1 Land and water use change
 - 3.3.2 Habitat changes
 - 3.3.3 Changes in disturbance regimes
 - 3.4 Climate feedbacks
 - 3.5 Policy implications
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Ecosystems provide many products and services that are crucial to human survival (Daily, 1997; UNEP, 1998; WRI, 2000). Ecosystems affect biogeochemical and physical feedbacks to the biosphere and atmosphere, hence are important for the functioning of the Earth's systems. Recent estimates indicate that 25% of the world's mammals and 12% of birds are at significant risk of global extinction. Climate change is only one of a long list of pressures on wildlife. Other pressures include exploitation of animals, pollution and other biochemical poisonings, extreme climatic events, wildlife diseases, collisions with towers and other structures, anthropogenic barriers to dispersal, and war and other civil conflicts. Alone or in combination, these pressures will greatly increase species 'vulnerabilities to rarity and extinction (high confidence).

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain terrestrial biosphere along with its components
- explain the effect of global change on forest and wildlife resources
- explain global warming

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Terrestrial Biosphere

Terrestrial ecosystems consist of plants, animals, and soil biota and their environment. The distribution of biota within and across ecosystems is constrained by the physical and chemical conditions of the atmosphere, the availability of nutrients and/or pollutants, and disturbances from natural origin (fire, wind-throw, etc.) or human land use.

3.2 Global Change Effect

Global climate change, for example, affects local weather and climate in ways that are strongly dependent on location. In trying to understand the effects of global change on the biosphere as a whole, scientists often focus on higher level entities such as ecosystems or biomes (the collection of ecosystems within a particular climatic zone with similar structure but differing species—e.g., the temperate forest biome).

3.3 Climate Change

Climate change is the changes in temperature, precipitation, local extreme climatic events, elevated co₂, and others.

3.3.1 Land and water use change

This will lead to increased forest cover for additional fiber and biofuels, recreation, conservation, aquaculture, irrigated agriculture, power production.

3.3.2 Habitat changes

Through changes in ice cover, water flow, storms, floods, cloudiness.

3.3.3 Changes in disturbance regimes

This include types, intensity, and frequency for events such as fires, floods, blow downs, insect herb ivory, pests.

3.4 Climate feedbacks

These are processes by which climate change influences some property of the Earth system which, in turn, either diminishes or amplifies the change. Diminishing feedbacks are called 'negative' and amplifying feedbacks are called 'positive'.

3.5 Policy implications

Biosphere feedbacks influence the relationship between emissions (of co₂ and other GHGs) and concentrations, which are what determine the greenhouse effect and thus the effect of emissions on climate. Biosphere feedbacks are therefore directly relevant for mitigation policy. Uncertainty about the magnitude of feedbacks is a problem for climate policy because the usefulness of climate projections is limited if the quantitative relationship between emissions and concentrations is unclear. Potentially large positive feedbacks are of particular concern, as positive feedbacks mean that more stringent emissions reductions are required to stabilize climate at any specified level. Moreover, multiple positive feedbacks are mutually reinforcing because of the non-linear relationship between temperature increase and gain. We have attempted to quantify the various feedbacks that have been proposed to be large – thus, those of greatest policy relevance.

4.0 CONCLUSION

This unit has broadened our knowledge of the impact of global warming on Earths biosphere with its negative and positive impact.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- terrestrial biosphere
- the effect of global change on forest and wildlife resources
- global warming

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. What is Terrestrial biosphere and its component
- 2. Explain the effect of Global warming on Terrestrial ecosystem

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Boucher O, Randall D, Artaxo P, et al. (2013) Clouds and aerosols. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K et al., editors. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Daily, G.C., P.A. Matson, and P.M. Vitousek, 1997: Ecosystem services supplied by soils. In: *Nature's Services: Societal Dependence on*

- *Natural Ecosystems* [Daily, G. (ed.)]. Island Press, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 113 132.
- Shindell D.T (2014) Inhomogeneous forcing and transient climate sensitivity. Nature Climate Change 4: 274–277.
- Tarnocai C, Canadell JG, Schuur EAG et al. (2013) Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23, GB2023.
- UNEP, 1998: *Protecting Our Planet, Securing Our Future* [Watson, R.T., J.A. Dixon, S.P. Hanburg, A.C. Janetos, and R.H. Moss (eds.)]. United Nations Environment Program, NASA, and World Bank, Washington, DC, USA, 95 pp.
- UNEP, 2000: *Global Environment Outlook 2000*. United Nations Environment Program, Nairobi, Kenya, 398 pp.
- WRI, 2000: World Resources 2000–2001. People and Ecosystems: The Fraying Web of Life. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC, USA, 400 pp.

MODULE 2 FOREST AND WILDLIFE POLICY, LAW AND ADMINISTRATION

Unit 1	Forest Policy and Laws
Unit 2	Wildlife Policy and Laws
Unit 3	Forest Administration
Unit 4	Wildlife Administration
Unit 5	Impact of Forest and Wildlife Policies on the Society

UNIT 1 FOREST POLICY AND LAWS

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Forest Policy and Laws
 - 3.2 Factors to be considered
 - 3.3 Strategies
 - 3.4 Forestry Laws
 - 3.5 Tools used in formulating/ Implementing forest policies
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Forest Policy could be defined as a plan of actions designed to indicate what proportion of a Nation's land area should be allocated or allotted. How the areas so dedicated are to be developed and how the products are utilized to the maximum benefit of the public. Simply put, forest policy could be considered as consisting of those principles which govern the actions of the people with respect to forest reserves.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- define forest policy and its objectives
- explain in detail the factors to be considered in making forest policies
- explain the tools for formulation or implementation of forest policies

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Forest Policy Objectives

The overall objective of the national forest policy is to achieve sustainable forest management that would ensure sustainable increases in the economic, social and environmental benefits from forests and trees for the present and future generation including the poor and the vulnerable groups. Specifically, the objectives include the need to; increase, maintain and enhance the national forest estate through sound forest management practices, promote and regulate private sector involvement in forest development, and to create a more positive investment climate in the sector, capitalize on the economic, social and environmental opportunities in forestry without undermining the resource base, ensure the survival of forest biodiversity and to balance this with the pressing development needs of the country.

3.2 Factors to be considered

In making forest policy, the factors that must be considered includes the following; Soil types, desirable species, climatic factors, growth rate of species, silvicultural characteristics, Import & Export Possibilities, pattern of wood consumption, economic development programme and human population and growth rate. So, the formulation of forest policy should be an interdisciplinary effort. This is because it could require the contribution of an economist, the forest managers, the town planners, silviculturists, forest pathologists to mention just a few.

3.3 Strategies

To achieve sustainable forest management, some of the strategies to be adopted include: the promotion of partnership with all stakeholders including the private sector, communities, and society, NGOs and CBOs, decentralization, promotion of community participation in forest resources management and encouraging the active participation of all women and men, young people and elderly and the vulnerable group in forest resources development.

3.4 Forest Law

Under the Nigerian legal system, Forest Laws are generally statue laws. These are laws passed by a legislative body, be it under a military government or under a civilian government. The subject of agriculture falls under the concurrent legislative list of the Nigerian Constitution. Consequently, both the Federal and State government are empowered to make laws on agriculture. Forest laws are made based on forest policies.

In actual practice, the bulk of the laws on forest are made by each state government of the federation, taking into cognizance their peculiar geographical features.

3.5 Tools used in Implementing/Formulating forest policies

Public ownership of land, public regulation of private land financial assistance to approved desirable projects, provision of technical assistance, research, education tariffs and trade assistance, forest Protection against fungal, bacterial, fire pests' attacks and land use planning.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The understanding of forest policies and laws will help in the sustainable management of all protected areas whether forest reserves or national parks.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt that:

- forest policy is to achieve sustainable forest management
- Some factors must be considered
- both the Federal and State government are empowered to make laws on agriculture

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Outline the factors to be considered in making forestry policies and laws
- 2. Explain in detail the tools for formulating forestry laws and policies

- FAO, (2010). Developing effective forest policy. A Guide. FAO Forestry Paper 161.Rome, Italy.
- Gorte, R.W. and Sheikh, PA. (2010). Deforestation Prepared for Members and Committees of Congress
- Ogunwusi A.A. and M.A Jolaoso. (2012). Bamboo, Conservation of environment and sustainable development in Nigeria. *Advances in Arts, Social Sciences and Education* 2(9):346-358.

UNIT 2 WILDLIFE POLICY AND LAWS

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Developing a wildlife policy
 - 3.2 Policy Statement
 - 3.3 Strategies
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Concept of wildlife management is entrenched in three approaches *viz*: control of wildlife population; maintenance of wildlife habitat; and management of people to protect wildlife, the most critical of which is the last. To achieve human management in a way that strikes a balance between the needs of man and the requirements of wild species, the promulgation and enforcement of adequate and effective legislation could not be over-emphasized. Wildlife policy is a legal statement that provides a set of orientations and principles of actions to guide and determine future decisions in relation to conservation and sustainable use of wildlife resources for the benefit of society from the social, economic and ecological viewpoints.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- define wildlife policy
- explain the strategies to developing wildlife policy

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Developing a wildlife policy

A policy provides a set of orientations and principles of actions to guide and determine future decisions in relation to the conservation and sustainable use of natural resources for the benefit of society from a social, economic and environmental viewpoint. A wildlife policy specifically provides guidance for planning, resource allocation as well as legal reforms related to the wildlife sector. The policy represents the consensus among all relevant stakeholders on wildlife management objectives in the country. While the national wildlife authority will most likely lead the process of policy development, the responsibility to undertake activities to reach the identified policy objectives may be allocated to different governmental and non-governmental actors. The national wildlife authority will remain in charge of overseeing that the policy goals are achieved.

3.2 Policy Statement

The nation's rich biodiversity shall be conserved to provide essential goods and services for sustainable development.

3.3 Strategies

Identify, delineate and inventorize species and sites of conservation interest. Develop in-situ conservation areas as National Parks, Game Reserves, Strict Nature Reserves, Sanctuaries and Cultural Heritage Centre's. Develop ex-situ conservation areas – Zoological and Botanical Gardens, which are to serve as centres for genetic improvement of endangered species. Promote Herbarium/Arboretum establishment – support the establishment and development as both national and state priority. Develop transparent mechanisms for responsibility and benefit sharing among Federal, States and Local Governments and Communities and other stakeholders. Enforce forestry legislation including laws on export of flora and fauna. Initiate the development and dissemination of relevant awareness and education materials on biodiversity conservation.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Wildlife policy is a legal statement that provides a set of orientations and principles of actions to guide and determine future decisions in relation to conservation and sustainable use of wildlife resources.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- wildlife policy
- policy statement

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. Explain the advantages of an effective wildlife policy in sustainable management of natural resources

2. Explain the strategies of an effective wildlife policy

- Enuoh, O.O.O. (2014). Buffer Zone Communities, Fishing Practices and Biodiversity Conservation in Cross River National Park, Nigeria. *Journal of Biol. Agri & Healthcare*, 4(22): 1-6.
- Ezenwaka, J and Aiyeloja, A.A (2010): Achieving sustainability in natural resources conservation in Nigeria. In (eds) H.M Ijeomah and A.A Aiyeloja "Practical Issues in Forest and Wildlife Resource management". Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, University of PortHarcourt. Pp 260-278.
- Wild Animals Preservation Law of 1991: Wild Animals Preservation (Licences) Regulations § 3, 6 REVISED LAWS OF ENUGU STATE OF NIGERIA, Cap. 157 (rev. ed. 2004).
- Wildlife Preservation Law: Wild Life Preservation (Licences) Regulations § 10, 7 LAW OF LAGOS STATE OF NIGERIA (rev. ed. 2003); Wild Life Preservation Law: Wild Life Preservation (Traps) Regulations §§ 1 & 2 (rev. ed. 2013).

UNIT 3 FOREST ADMINISTRATION

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Forest administrative department
 - 3.2 Challenges of forest administration
 - 3.3 Administration of forest resources
 - 3.4 Forest law enforcement
 - 3.5 Role of Government
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Forest governance structure has been observed to be the same all over Nigeria by Mohammed and Danjuma (2014). Forest administrations in the state are carried out by the Department of Forestry in the Ministry of Environment. In the State, forests are governed centrally from the office of the governor to the Ministries of Environment and the Department of forestry. The effectiveness of a forest policy depends on the energy, drive and dedication of the National Forest Service. In bridging the gap between policy formulation and various agents of implementation in the country, the Federal Department of Forestry shall play a leading role in forest management throughout the country.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the role of forest administration in sustainable forest management
- explain challenges of forest administration
- explain forest law enforcement and penalties

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Forest Administrative Department

This is the body responsible for implementation of forest policy and forestry issues in any country. Through norms and legislation, financial means, an information and forest programme, forest policy is designed

to promote the sustainable management of forest land resources uses. There are different implementations of state forest administration systems in different countries. For instance, in Europe there are different institutional structures and approaches, variation in legal rights and duties between private and public institutions, and also differences in the share of duties between national and local levels.

3.2 Challenges of Forest Administration

In many countries, forest ownership and settlement have become politically explosive, forcing many governments to introduce radical changes in the way forest resources are controlled and managed and, thus, prescribing new roles for Forest Administrations. But many Forest Administrations have yet to fully adjust to such changes and remain suboptimal in their functions. It is widely recognized that forestry institutions in these countries have weak capacities to fulfill their functions.

3.3 Administration of Forest Resources

Adequacy of staff capacity and effectiveness of agencies tasked with forest administration, quality and effectiveness of information and data management systems adequacy, effectiveness and transparency of monitoring and evaluation and accessibility of results, extent to which monitoring and evaluation results are clearly incorporated into forest management planning, effectiveness of collection, sharing and redistribution of forest taxes, royalties, charges and rents and extent to which on-the-ground management of forests follows adopted policies, laws and plans.

3.4 Forest Law Enforcement

Appropriateness and consistency of application of penalties for breaches of forest laws and regulations, effectiveness of division of jurisdictional authority and responsibility for forest law enforcement, effectiveness of measures and tools to prevent forest crimes, effectiveness of incentives for officers and agencies to enforce forest laws, including investigation and prosecution, capacity of law enforcement agencies to suppress, detect and prevent forest-related crimes and illegal activities, appropriateness and effectiveness of enforcement agencies' use of tools, instruments and information to enforce laws, capacity and willingness of the judiciary and law enforcement agencies to deal with cases of forest crime effectively, extent to which courts and arbitrators are accessible, fair, honest and independent, work in a timely manner that is are affordable; and deliver enforceable outcomes.

3.5 Role of Government

To ensure the necessary coordination and collaboration between institutions to promote a coordinated natural resources policy, conflict resolution, and spatial planning, ensure the protection of biodiversity habitats, sites of historical and cultural value, and scenery, ensure responsible attitude in forestry through its enactments and regulations, to adopt the anthropocentric approach through the provision of goods and services to the people (i.e. food security and general well-being of entire rural communities using forests to alleviate poverty.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Forest administration is an invaluable asset for the effective sustainable management of forest resources for both present and future use. The government should strictly penalized offenders who are guilty of forest offense which would act as a deterrent to the populace.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the role of forest administration for the sustainable management of forest resources
- the challenges facing forest administration sector
- government participation in forest resource management

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Appraise the role of forest administration
- 2. Discuss in detail the role of the government in forest management

- Agbeja, B.O and Verinumbi 2006, Forest policy in Nigeria. Lead paper. Proceedings of the 31st Annual Conference of Forestry Association of Nigeria, (ed. L. Popoola). Held in Makurdi, Benue State. 20th- 25th November, 2006.
- Faleyimu, O.I (2010): Status of Forest Policy Implementation in South-West Nigeria. Unpublished Ph.D Thesis, University of Ibadan, Ibadan. April, 2010. Pp 271.
- FAO Regional Office for Africa, 2002. The State of Forests and Wildlife in Africa. African Forestry and Wildlife Commission. 80p.

Krott, M. (2005). Forest Policy Analysis. Springer, Dordrecht. www.amazon.com/forest-policy-analysis-max-1402034784. <a href="https://pp.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nlm.ncbi.nl

- Mohammed, S. and M.N. Danjuma, 2014. Linking participatory rural appraisal to forest protection and conservation in Katsina State of Nigeria. *European Scientific Journal*, 10(20): 244-262.
- ODOOM, F. K. 2005. Wood Energy in West Africa Status, issues and recommendations. Forestry Departmental Group, FAO Regional Office for Africa
- Owino F, Ndinga A. A report prepared for the project Lessons Learnt on Sustainable Forest Management in Africa. Study on forest administration and related institutional arrangements. Sponsored by Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry (KSLA), African Forest Research Network (AFORNET) at the African Academy of Sciences (AAS), Food and Agriculture Organisation of the Unite Nations (FAO). 2004; 44.

UNIT 4 WILDLIFE ADMINISTRATION

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Duties of Wildlife administrators
 - 3.2 Wildlife protection services
 - 3.3 Enforcement of wildlife legislation
 - 3.4 Species-based international agreements
 - 3.5 Ensuring clarity in the institutional set-up
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Subordinating wildlife administrations to higher-ranking bodies in which timber or forest industry interests may easily prevail can foster great dependency. High-level decisions may well choose to ignore the technical arguments in favour of wildlife. In practice, the autonomy of wildlife policy-makers depends very much on the personal and political influence of the head of the wildlife service. Interviews and surveys do show, however, that many wildlife administrators see themselves as islands in a sea of public and official indifference, trammeled by inappropriate policies and sterile bureaucracies. This subordination, combined with the fact that staff, funds and equipment for the wildlife services have low priority, seriously hinders development efforts. Wildlife management can be defined as the process of maintaining certain wildlife populations, including endangered species, at desirable levels on the basis of scientific, technical and traditional knowledge. Sustainable wildlife management adds to this definition the objective of balancing the economic, ecological and social values of wildlife, with a view to protecting the interests of present and future generations. Thus, this concept goes beyond the protection of interests related to hunting and protection for individual species and rather focuses on wildlife as a renewable natural resource in a holistic way.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain duties of forest administrators
- interrelate poor administration to wildlife management

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Duties of Wildlife administrators

The work of the wildlife administrations runs the gamut from planning action and strategy to such mundane duties as issuing licenses, keeping statistical records, processing infractions, managing protected areas, and so forth.

3.2 Wildlife protection services

Wildlife protection services are necessary to ensure effective compliance with the regulations governing wildlife utilization. This is vitally important in tropical countries where most hunters disregard or do not know the existing laws.

3.3 Enforcement of wildlife legislation

Application and enforcement of laws to all taxa are inconsistent. Although state authority over the allocation of the take of resident game species is well defined, country, local, or housing development ordinances may effectively supersede state authority. Decisions on land use, even on public lands, indirectly impact allocation of wildlife due to land use changes associated with land development.

3.4 Species-based international agreements

Endangered species legislation involves a specialized legal approach to wildlife management. It focuses exclusively on the identification and restoration of species that have reached critically low population levels, on the basis of defined criteria and procedures for listing these species and at least two general mechanisms designed to ensure recovery of individual species. Listing criteria and procedures are based on sciencebased definitions of "threatened" and/or "endangered," both of which imply an assessment of the status of the species and the threats to their continued survival. The primary mechanism for recovery is the requirement that government agencies and private developers consider listed species in designing and constructing projects and include adequate protection measures to minimize or mitigate project impacts and ensure the species long-term survival or recovery. The second mechanism is the prohibition of direct and/or incidental "take" of the species in question. "Take" includes the killing of such species by whatever means (not just hunting), as well as any actions that remove a species from its habitat, destroy critical habitat or otherwise harm, harass, or injure the species.

3.5 Ensuring clarity in the institutional set-up

Another general principle for good legal drafting, which is also applicable to wildlife management laws, is that the law should clarify the mandate and functions of all public authorities related to wildlife management. "Legal mandates" refer to legal provisions requiring or allowing government agencies or persons to engage in activities affecting the resource or its components. This is a deliberately broad concept that encompasses all possible actions, activities, permissions, or even prohibitions. Usually, legal mandates are framed in general terms, thus resulting of difficult practical application, with no guidance as to the exercise of powers, limits to discretion or procedures for decisionmaking. Possibly, the law should provide some guidance to the exercise of public discretion, in order to increase the legitimacy and accountability of public authorities. Furthermore, with a view to enhancing the accountability of wildlife authorities and avoiding conflict of interests, the law should avoid the possibility of mixing management/commercial activities and control functions in the same (public or private) body.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The role of wildlife administrators in managing wild fauna has really strengthened the Nation's wildlife reserve. However, there has been weak enforcement of wildlife legislations across the country and beyond.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the role of wildlife administration for the sustainable management of wildlife resources
- the weak and epileptic state of wildlife enforcement agency

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Discuss the benefit of efficient wildlife administration to wildlife management
- 2. Explain the role of enforcement of wildlife legislation.

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Cirelli, M.T. and Morgera, E. 2009a. "Wildlife law and the legal empowerment of the poor in Sub-saharan Africa," FAO Papers Online #77. Available at: www.fao.org/legal.

- Commission on Legal Empowerment of the Poor, 2008. *Making the Law Work for Everyone* Vol.I. Commission on Legal Empowerment of the Poor and United Nations Development Programme.
- Commission on Legal Empowerment of the Poor, 2008b. *Making the Law Work for Everyone* Vol.II. Commission on Legal Empowerment of the Poor and United Nations Development.
- Doe 2002. A Compilation of Environmental Laws administered by the Department of environment. Department of Environment and Bangladesh Environmental Management Project (BEMP), E-16, Agargaon, Sher-e-Banglanagar, Dhaka, Bangladesh.
- Enforcement Ordinance for the Wildlife Protection and Management Act, MOE Ordinance No. 171, Feb. 7, 2005, amended by MOE Ordinance No. 633, Dec. 31, 2015, art. 31(2)(a).
- McGrath, C Does environmental law work? How to evaluate the effectiveness of an environmental legal system. Lambert academic publishers. 2010.

UNIT 5 IMPACT OF FOREST AND WILDLIFE POLICIES ON THE SOCIETY

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Forest Governance
 - 3.2 Tourism
 - 3.3 Employment
 - 3.4 Conservation of Nature's Heritage
 - 3.5 Encroachment
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The national policy on conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity is an integral part of the national policy on environment. The national policy on environment which was reviewed in 2006/7 further strengthened the biodiversity conservation. Forest resources increasingly constitute a significant element in our national economy. Unlike in the past when forests were taken for granted because they were found almost everywhere, people are becoming increasingly aware of the direct and far-reaching influences of the forest as the available forests are continually diminishing while the demand for forest goods and services continues to rise. The administration of forest reserves in Nigeria leaves much to be desired especially when one considers governments' decisions and policies on utilization of forest resources in meeting the needs and aspirations of citizens. For the past forty years, the administration of forestry had been monopolized by the state government within the federal structure in Nigeria. The exclusion of the stakeholders such as (local community dwellers, hunters, farmers, timber contractors and other non-timber resources users) in the administration of forests directly or indirectly has led to poor forest governance and the consequent crises in forest reserves in Nigeria.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

• explain the positive impact of forest and wildlife policies on the economy

• discuss the negative impact of forest and wildlife policies on the economy

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Forest Governance

Forest governance can be defined as the management of forest resources within a particular institutional and technical environment bearing in mind the welfare of citizens whose livelihood hinge closely on forest resources and the need to maintain ecological balance. The technical environment provides the tools and knowledge, which define how a resource is used as a factor of production. The institutional environment defines who controls the resources and how the technique is applied. In another words, forest governance can be referred to as the process of planning, utilizing and managing forest resources through joint efforts of the governor(s) and the governed (the people). In such instance, forests are regarded as common property resources or common pool resources. Unfortunately, we do not yet have proper forest governance in Nigeria but purely forest administration devoid of people or users' protecting forest considerations. Government's efforts of undermined by the fact that government has failed in its responsibility in other areas of life that are critical to the citizens. For instance, the absence of job opportunities for Nigerian citizens along-side forest protection program makes forest policy nonsensical and tangential when people who are ready to work at any rate (even by farming), for survival are jobless.

3.2 Tourism

Tourism which creates huge revenue for the developed countries due to proper, efficient and workable forest and wildlife policies is grossly lacking in many West African countries. Nigeria as country is gradually finding its feet in the area of tourism. Proper implementation of forest and wildlife policies will boost ecotourism, thereby boosting the GDP of the country.

3.3 Employment

When we consider the staffing conditions of the state's forestry services, we discover that most forestry services are underemployed or understaffed. Productivity is therefore generally low and the cost of administration is enormous. In certain states, the forestry services are charged with administering the forest policy and law. In addition, since forest administration is business oriented, its primary function are the conservation, management and sale of forest products. This affords a

unique position for forest service to demand good organization, structure and management, competence of the personnel based on the limited overall size of the forest estate and considered along a number of states. It will be obvious that present administration of forest policy is not economically satisfactory. A good, efficient and workable forest and wildlife policies will create room for more qualified staff to be employed thereby reducing the number of unemployed individual in the country.

3.4 Conservation of Nature's Heritage

Nature's heritage will be preserved in perpetuity if forest and wildlife policies, laws and administration are further strengthened by the necessary authority.

3.5 Encroachment

Weaknesses in the enforcement of forestry law could encourage open access to the forest resource. This could also result in encroachment of other competing land uses such as agriculture and urbanization, thus decimating the forestland area. Weaknesses in implementation of the management plan could result in under or over exploitation of the forest resource, thus leading to inefficiency. An estimated 45% (74,942 ha) of the forest reserve is devoid of forest trees. This could threaten economic stability and growth and food security. Weaknesses in enforcement of forestry law could provide indigenous communities opportunities to reap perceived benefits from the forests, which the government has denied them for the past years. Attempt has been made by the State government to incorporate the indigenous communities in the development of management plan and enforcement of forestry law.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Forest and Wildlife policies, laws and administration impact on the society positively and negatively depending on how strong or weak these policies and laws are being implemented. Nigeria is still very slow in enforcing forest and wildlife policies and laws. Thus, there is an urgent need for proper implementation of forest policy as a strong safeguard for providing best option for halting forest decline as well making the required contribution to the well being of the society.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

• the effect of forest and wildlife policies on society growth both positive and negative

• weak state of forest and wildlife policies in Nigeria

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. List and discuss the impact of forest and wildlife policies on the society

- Agnes, R.C. and Ian, C. 2005. Economic Development and Environmental Management in the Uplands of Southeastern Asia: Challenges for Policy and Institutional Development. *Agricultural Economics* 32(s1):243-256.
- Mankor A. (2013). Promoting intra-African trade of animals and animal products. Technical Item of the 20th Conference of the OIE Regional Commission for Africa (Lome, Togo, 18–22 February 2013). Available at: www.oie.int/en/publications-and-documentation/compendium-of-technical-items.
- Olajide, A. K. (2005). "A Critical Study of the Management of Forest Reserves in Ife Zone, Osun State, Nigeria." M. Sc. Thesis Submitted to the Department of Public Administration, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Nigeria.
- Oxfam (2003). Measuring poverty in Nigeria. Oxfam Publications, Great Britain. pp. 48-49. Soil survey Division, Oyo. (1990). Soils of Nigeria. Soil survey Division, Federal Department of Agricultural land resources (FDALR), Nigeria.
- Travis D.A., Watson R.P. & Tauer A. (2011). The spread of pathogens through trade in wildlife. Rev. sci.tech. Off. int. Epiz., 30 (1), 219-239.

MODULE 3 CHALLENGES TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF FOREST AND WILDLIFE POLICY

Unit 1	Forest Fires
Unit 2	Poaching
Unit 3	Illegal Grazing/ Logging
Unit 4	Buffer Zones
Unit 5	Conflicts

UNIT 1 FOREST FIRES

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Sources and importance of wildfire
 - 3.1.1 Uses of fire in Natural Resources
 - 3.1.2 Improper Use of Fire
 - 3.2 Periods of Wildfire
 - 3.3 Economic Impacts of Wildfire
 - 3.4 Ecological role of fire
 - 3.4.1 Fire-sensitive ecosystems
 - 3.4.2 Forest fires and climate change
 - 3.5 Forest fires and climate change
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Landscape fires play an important role in many ecosystems across the globe, with (sub) tropical savannas of intermediate productivity being most frequently burned. Within those (sub) tropical ecosystems, humans are responsible for most of the ignitions and fires have been actively managed for thousands of years, partly aided by the vegetation traits of these regions which make them inherently. Most fires are anthropogenic in origin and are directly linked to livelihood activities. Some threats to forest protection identified are fires, poaching, trespass, illegal logging and uncontrolled grazing.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the importance of wildfire
- discuss the economic impact of forest fire
- ecological role of wildfire

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Sources and importance of wildfire

Wildfire has both natural and artificial origin. Wildfires occur in forest reserves and other bushes and plantation areas. The existence of favorable fire danger conditions like low humidity, high temperature, dry wind and sufficient dry matter together with human activities are found to be a major factor responsible for fire occurrence in Nigeria. Some of the causes of forest fire are: natural – lightening and friction due to objects robbing together and artificial – campfire, debris burning, lumbering, railroad, smokers and miscellaneous. It is therefore evidence that major causes of wildfire are of artificial sources resulting from human activities towards economic emancipation.

3.1.1 Uses of fire in Natural Resources

Humans have used fire as a vital tool for natural resource management for thousands of years. Traditionally, fire has been used as a management tool to control vegetation structure and composition, for hunting and to recycle nutrients locked in live and dead biomass. These uses have continued up to today particularly in savanna ecosystems of southern Africa and northern parts of Australia.

3.1.2 Improper Use of Fire

Improper use of fires often lead to veld fires, which are blazes that get out of control, destroying extensive tracts of forests and grasslands and may result in the loss of biodiversity and human life.

3.2 Periods of wildfire

Wildfire occurs more frequently during the dry season between the months of December and March, when the air temperature is high and relative humidity and fuel loads moisture content are low. Vegetation is set ablaze annually between November and January (Early burning) or from February to the beginning of rains (late burning). Early burning is done to provide early bush of palpable tender grass for livestock needing

in areas of wildlife conservation. Despite the value of early burning, such fires are uncontrolled and therefore penetrate ecosystems leading to loss of biodiversity. Late burning is done to hunt for game animals by hunters and farmers and are set indiscriminately, burning all fuels along its course and coming to rest after much destruction when there is no more fuel within an ecosystem.

3.3 Economic Impacts of Wildfire

Wildfires can have both positive and negative effects on local economies. Positive effects come from economic activity generated in the community during fire suppression and post-fire rebuilding. These may include forestry support work, such as building fire lines and performing other defenses, or providing firefighting teams with food, ice, and amenities such as temporary shelters and washing machines.

3.4 Ecological role of fire

Forest fires are a natural element of many, but not of all forest ecosystems. In cold or dry climates with limited decomposition of litter and accumulation of humus through soil microorganisms, forest fires ensure that future generations of trees are supplied with nutrients.

3.4.1 Fire-sensitive ecosystems

In fire-sensitive ecosystems, frequent, large and severe fires were rare until recently. Most plants and animals in these ecosystems lack the ability to benefit from the positive effects of a fire or to recover quickly after a burn. Thirty-six percent (36 %) of all ecosystems worldwide are classified as fire-sensitive. Their vegetation and structure usually prevent the outbreak and the spread of fires. In the long term, human-induced fires in a fire-sensitive ecosystem can affect its species composition or reduce its area.

3.4.2 Forest fires and climate change

By causing the release of greenhouse gases (GHG), forest fires contribute significantly to climate change. Warmer climate leads to forests becoming dryer and degraded, which increases their vulnerability to fire.

3.5 Wildfire suppression

Appropriate fire -fighting measures depend on the type of fire. Creating firebreaks helps in the case of a ground fire. In this case several metre

wide strips are cleared of fuel by controlled burning so that the fire cannot spread.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Forest fire has both useful, beneficial purposes as well harmful detrimental effect on man, its environment, its natural resources as well as the economy. In the months after a fire, wildlife populations can suffer substantial losses due to habitat alteration and destruction. Since their habitat has been destroyed, wildlife becomes displaced and must spend more time searching for food, water and shelter. Displaced wildlife may travel to areas not affected by the fire, which puts stress on the displaced wildlife, as well as the wildlife that was already there, due to increased competition for available food, water and shelter.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the sources, periods as well as the beneficial and harmful effect of forest fire on the environment
- the role of forest fire in climate change

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. List and discuss in detail the sources of forest fire
- 2. Discuss the socio-economic effect of forest fire
- 3. Explain the effect of forest fire on forest and wildlife conservation.

- Amissah, L.; Kyereh, B.; Agyeman, V. K. 2010. Wildfire incidence and management in the forest transition zone of Ghana: farmers' perspectives. Ghana J. Forestry. 26: 61-73.
- Archibald, S., Scholes, R. J., Roy, D. P., Roberts, G., and Boschetti, L.: Southern African fire regimes as revealed by remote sensing, Int. J. Wildland Fire, 19, 861–878, 2010.
- Archibald, S., Staver, A. C., and Levin, S. A.: Evolution of human driven fire regimes in Africa, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 109, 847–852, 2012.
- Barni, P. E., Pereira, V. B., Manzi, A. O., Barbosa, R. I. (2015) Deforestation and forest fires in Roraima and their

- relationship with phytoclimatic regions in the Northern Brazilian Amazon. Environmental Management 55: 1124–1138. Google Scholar, Crossref, Medline
- Bowman, D. M. J. S., Balch, J. K., Artaxo, P., Bond, W. J., Carlson, J. M., Cochrane, M. A., D'Antonio, C. M., Defries, R. S., Doyle, J. C., Harrison, S. P., Johnston, F. H., Keeley, J. E., Krawchuk, M. A., Kull, C. A., Marston, J. B., Moritz, M. A., Prentice, I. C., Roos, C. I., Scott, A. C., Swetnam, T. W., van der Werf, G. R., and Pyne, S. J.: Fire in the Earth system, Science, 324, 481–484, 2009.
- Giglio, L., Randerson, J. T., and van der Werf, G. R.: Analysis of daily, monthly, and annual burned area using the fourth generation global fire emissions database (GFED4), J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeo., 118, 317–328, doi:10.1002/jgrg.20042, 2013.
- Krawchuk MA, Moritz MA. 2014 Burning issues: statistical analyses of global fire data to inform assessments of environmental change. Environmetrics 25, 472–481. (doi:10.1002/env. 2287)
- "LEDS GP Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use Working Group factsheet" (PDF). Low Emission Development Strategies Global Partnership (LEDS GP). Retrieved 23 March 2016.

UNIT 2 ILLEGAL HUNTING

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Local extinction due to hunting
 - 3.1.1 Subsistence hunting
 - 3.1.2 Commercial hunting
 - 3.2 Nutritional values
 - 3.3 Economic values
 - 3.4 Social and Cultural values
 - 3.5 Impacts on livelihoods
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Wildlife is facing serious global challenges, many flora and fauna species are continuously driven closer to extinction on daily basis. Less than 9% of the earth has been set aside as protected areas and there is constant pressure from increased human and cattle population, uncontrolled development of community on forest resources has ultimately caused fragmentation and degradation of wildlife habitats. Although bush meat trade is socio-economically important, researchers have condemned the unsustainable and illegal hunting and harvesting of wild animal meat for commercial purposes as a serious threat to the populations of these wild animals, including trade in them. Nigerian National parks are bedeviled with a myriad of problems prominent among them being poaching, logging, illegal grazing and bush burning. Illegal hunting of animals for trophy and meat is usually a major problem experienced in protected areas and is more or less universal in conservation areas of Africa. Wildlife is facing serious challenges all over the world, and many fauna and flora species are continuously driven closer to extinction on a daily basis. Poaching and illegal trade in wildlife has become an organized, lucrative and a capital intensive business, with trafficking routes extending from remote national parks and reserves, where animals are trapped and killed, to major urban centres where they are sold and consumed. Although wildlife laws exist as a global conservation tool for protection of species, most remain unenforced, due to limited human, financial and material resources required to monitor illegal activities and enforce existing laws. Rules and measures to enforce them are at the heart of conservation.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain what poaching is about
- explain reasons for hunting in or around conservation areas
- the effect of illegal hunting on conservation laws and policies

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Local extinction due to hunting

Large animals tend to be those that hunters favour most as killing one animal supplies a large amount of meat, and larger animals tend to be the ones that have the most valuable horns, antlers, tusks, furs, skins, feathers or other artifacts. Thus, the value returned per unit of time and cost expended by hunters is greatest for large animals. Large species are rare compared to smaller ones and reproduce slowly; thus, they are especially vulnerable to overhunting and have limited capacity to recover from population declines. Primates breed more slowly than their size alone would suggest, so they are vulnerable to hunting in ways which are more like those of much larger animals.

3.1.1 Subsistence hunting

This is the illegal killing of wildlife by locals inside the protected area to supplement scarce diet.

3.1.2 Commercial hunting

This is the illegal killing and or capture of wildlife by locals or outsiders inside the protected area for commercial purposes i.e. to sell the meat in large markets of villages or cities for consumption as delicacy or for pet trade.

3.2 Nutritional values

Bush meat represents an important protein source in the tropics while gathered plant foods are important dietary supplements to the starchy staple diet. In at least 62 countries world-wide, wildlife and fish constitute a minimum of 20% of the animal protein in rural diets. Wildlife provides significant calories to rural communities, as well as essential protein and fats.

3.3 Economic values

Rural people, moving from a subsistence lifestyle to a cash economy, have relatively few options for generating income. They can sell agricultural or pastoral produce, work for a cash wage in agriculture or industry, or sell retail goods in local or regional marketplaces. However for rural people, without access to capital, land or livestock, the harvest of wildlife resources may offer the best return for labour input.

3.4 Social and cultural values

Wildlife and hunting are intimately linked to many cultures throughout the world's tropical forests even if in some cases the meat is only of minor nutritional importance. Important social and cultural values are linked to foods and medicines derived from wild resources. Therefore while hunting provides meat and income it also remains an important social and cultural tradition for many peoples both in developed and in developing countries. Acquisition of animal parts as cultural artifacts, for personal adornment or for hunting trophies is still a widespread practice throughout tropical forest regions and the rest of the world. In many cultures to be a hunter is essential in gaining respect, achieving manhood or winning a bride.

3.5 Impacts on livelihoods

Conventional wisdom tells us that the people who, in theory, will suffer the most from declining wildlife resources due to poaching activities are the millions of people across Latin America, Africa and Asia living in and from the forests. These people (hunter-gatherers, cultivators, urban poor) are often the poorest and most marginalized people in their country. They typically lack the education and skills to easily find alternative employment. They lack capital or access to agricultural markets and cannot switch to alternative livelihoods or food sources.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Poaching is a complex phenomenon and its motivation and impact on wildlife are diversified in different countries. The harvesting of wildlife, especially for food, is a complex problem, one in which biological issues and conservation concerns should play an important role alongside livelihood issues. Such a problem has no simple solution and actions will have to be taken at all levels from the international policy dialogue to the field-project level. If attention is focused solely on field-level initiatives, such as protected area management, then the underlying forces driving unsustainable and unregulated harvest will continue.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- illegal hunting and its adverse effect on conservation efforts
- the economic, nutritional and socio-cultural reasons for hunting
- the impact of poaching on the livelihood of dwellers in and around conservation areas

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Discuss the effect of illegal hunting on forest and wildlife policies in Nigeria
- 2. Outline and discuss the reasons for hunting in and around conservation areas

- Cross-River Gorilla, 2010. Bush meat trade Available at: http://www.cross rivergorilla.org/threats/bushmeat-trade.html. Downloaded on 24th April, 2010.
- Damania, R.and Bulte, E. H. 2006. The economics of wildlife farming and endangered species conservation. Ecological economics 2006 (in press).
- Gandiwa, E. 2011. Preliminary assessment of illegal hunting by communities adjacent to the northern Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe. *Tropical Conservation Science* 4: 445-467.
- H.M Ijeomah, A.U. Ogogo, D. Ogbara, *Analysis of poaching activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria*, Environment and Natural Resources Research, 3(1), 2012, pp. 51-61.
- Ijeomah, H. M., Ogogo, A. U., & Ogbara, D. (2013). Analysis of Poaching Activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria. *Environment and Natural Resource Research*, *3*, 51-61.
- Jacob, D. E., & Ogogo, A. U. (2011). Community Participation in Protected Area Management: A Case Study of Cross River National Park. *Proceedings of the 34th Annual Conference of the Forestry Association of Nigeria*, Osogbo, 5-10 December 2011, 412-417.

UNIT 3 ILLEGAL GRAZING/LOGGING

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Illegal grazing
 - 3.2 Illegal Logging
 - 3.3 Fuelwood consumption
 - 3.4 Effect of illegal grazing on wildlife
 - 3.5 Effect of illegal logging on wildlife
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The increase in depletion and extinction of the world' biodiversity has led to a greater interest from the global community to protect the environment and safeguard natural habitats and thousands of species. The establishment of protected areas is construed to be the most feasible strategy of maintaining biodiversity. Nigeria's biodiversity is one of the richest in Africa. The Federal Ministry of Environment Fourth National Biodiversity Report (2010) opined that Nigeria's geographic features endows her with one of the richest biodiversity in African continent. But despite this richness, conservation of Nigeria's biodiversity is currently at lowest ebb. Although, various policies and strategies aimed at sustaining biodiversity have been developed, particularly at national biodiversity decline continues unabated. fragmentation, overexploitation of natural resources, pollution, and the spread of invasive alien species have long been recognized as the "Big Five" threats to global biodiversity. Illegal logging is one of the main contributors to deforestation and forest degradation. Illegal logging undermines forest ecology and the environmental services of forests, and has become the main barrier to sustainable forest management. Apart from its environmental effects, illegal logging also leads to various socioeconomic problems. Trade of illegally harvested timber disrupts the global market and often coexists with corruption, which results in reduced incentive to manage forests sustainably and efficiently.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the effect of illegal grazing and logging activities in and around protected areas
- discuss the impact of illegal grazing and logging on wildlife

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Illegal grazing

Livestock grazing is one factor driving large mammal population declines and threatening conservation efforts in African savannas (Ogutu, et al. 2016, Schieltz and Rubenstein 2016). Since some wild ungulate species are similar to livestock in terms of body mass and diet, the presence of livestock in ecosystems might impact negatively on the structure of native herbivore communities due to competitive exclusion.

3.2 Illegal Logging

Illegal logging and the international trade in illegally logged timber is a major problem for many timber-producing countries in the developing world, particularly in West Africa. It causes environmental damage, costs governments billions of dollars in lost revenue, promotes corruption, and undermines the rule of law and good governance and in some instances, provides funding for specialized crimes such as terrorism. Illegal logging also retards sustainable development in some of the poorest countries of the world. Consumer countries contribute to these problems by importing timber and wood products without ensuring that they are legally sourced.

3.3 Fuelwood consumption

About seventy percent (70%) of Nigerian households mainly in rural and semi-urban areas depend largely on fuel wood consumption for their domestic and to a large extent commercial energy needs. The demand for fuel-wood is higher in the less vegetated north and in urban cities where most poor who cannot afford other cost of other sources of energy supply use fuel wood for food production. Charcoal production is also in high demand from the highly populated cities and is the most critical cause of forest degradation in some parts of the country. With growing population, increasing poverty and relatively low industrialization rate, Nigeria should develop mechanism to expand the scope of energy requirements in rural and semi-urban areas as part of the strategies to save biodiversity and increase the size of the national vegetation cover.

3.4 Effect of illegal grazing on Wildlife

Illegal grazing impacts negatively on wildlife. For example, foraging behavior, habitat and diet of wild ungulates changes in the presence of competing cattle. This occurs mostly during lean resource availability when grazing ranges are constricted to available water and when overall fodder quality is lower. Due to diet overlap, there is a reduction in plant biomass available for wild herbivores. Hence wild species will consume less suitable forage as they are outcompeted by livestock. Therefore, ecosystems with high levels of grazing host significantly fewer mammals than expected.

3.5 Effect of illegal logging on wildlife

This leads to habitat destruction, displacement, long distance travel of the displaced wildlife which often impacts negatively on the health of the wild animal, high competition on vegetation in the new environment and it sometimes leads to death as the displaced wild animals becomes a ready meal for other predators.

4.0 CONCLUSION

It is a fact that protected areas play an essential role in conservation of biodiversity in general for the survival of mankind. For effective long-term rangeland productivity and management of these protected areas, there is the urgent need to tackle the existing challenges to meet the current realities in the country. Illegal grazing and illegal logging is a serious threat to biodiversity conservation.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- illegal grazing and illegal logging as detrimental effect on conservation effort
- the negative impact of illegal grazing and illegal logging on wildlife resources

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Explain clearly the effect of illegal grazing and logging on wildlife species in National protected areas
- 2. Discuss the Impacts of illegal logging and grazing on wildlife

- Ashraf, N., Anwar, M., Hussain, I. and Mirza, S., 2015. Population Parameters of Grey Goral (*Naemorhedus goral goral*) at Two Different Sites in Machiara National Park, Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. *JAPS, Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 25 (1), 88-94.
- Bellard, C. et al. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecology Letters (2012):1-13.
- Burgess, M. (2012). The challenge in conservation of biodiversity: Regulation of national parks in China and South Africa in comparison. Discussion Paper, Centre for Chinese Studies, Stellenbosch University, South Africa.40pp.
- Dacko, M., 2015. The Issue of Environmental Resources Management in the Light of the Model of Tragedy of the Commons–Systemic Approach. *Problemy Ekorozwoju–problems of Sustainable Development*, 10 (1), 21-30.
- Dieter, M.; Englert, H.; Weimar, H. Wood from illegal harvesting in EU markets: Estimations and open issues. Landbauforsch. Appl. Agric. For. Res. 2012, 62, 247–254.
- Federal Ministry of Environment (2010). Fourth National Biodiversity Report. Federal Ministry of Environment, Abuja, Nigeria. 79pp.
- Ganby Zoo. (2012). *To the rescue of endangered species*. Retrieved from http://www.especesmenacees.ca/en/excessive-trade.php.
- Ogutu, J.O., Piepho, H., Said, M.Y., Ojwang, G.O., Njino, L.W., Kifugo, S.C. and Wargute, P.W., 2016. Extreme Wildlife Declines and Concurrent Increase in Livestock Numbers in Kenya: What Are the Causes? *PloS One*, 11 (9), e0163249.
- Schieltz, J.M. and Rubenstein, D.I., 2016. Evidence based review: positive versus negative effects of livestock grazing on wildlife. What do we really know? [online].. Available at: https://org.doi:10.1088/1748-9326/11/11/113003 [Accessed 04/16 2017].
- World Bank, 2013. Forest law enforcement and governance. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/forests/brief/forest-law-enforcement-governance.

UNIT 4 BUFFER ZONES

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Management functions of buffer zones
 - 3.2 Activities allowed in Buffer Zones
 - 3.3 Activities not allowed in Buffer Zones
 - 3.4 Benefits of Buffer Zones
 - 3.5 Challenges of Buffer Zone Management
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The buffer zones are intended to serve direct ecological purposes such as the minimization of the effects of landscape fragmentation and core area diminishment and isolation. Buffer zones aim at controlling human activities within the lands adjacent to a core area by promoting sound management, thus decreasing the potential impacts and diminishing effects of small size. The presence of indigenous people is implicitly permitted within the buffer zones. This is to encourage minimal economic activities and sense of belonging; otherwise the buffer zones would be a totally protected area. A buffer zone is an area lying between two or more other protected land area and serving to reduce the possibility of damaging interactions between them. Buffer zones also promote the sustainable use of wild plant and animal species by local communities and provide mechanisms by which local people can genuinely benefit from the existence of a protected area. Nature conservationists distinguish two different ways of approaching the buffer zone issue. For the 'hard-core' conservationists, the buffer zone serves only to avoid negative human impact on the core area. The socioconservationists see the buffer zone as part of the socio-economic development of the entire area comprising conservation and nonconservation sub-areas.

2.0 Objectives

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the management functions of Buffer Zones
- explain the benefits of Buffer Zones to rural dwellers

the challenges of Buffer Zones to forest and wildlife policies

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Management functions of buffer zones

The following major management functions for buffer zones can be enumerated: accomplishment of area requirements, correcting the shape of the core area (in order to: minimize the exposed perimeter to outside effects and conserve internal resources more efficiently; facilitate interactions with adjacent ecosystems and with more distant portions of the landscape and correct the orientation of the long axis of the core relative to flows- such as wind, water, nutrient, and individuals in the landscape), support the direct site management, management of factors that directly affect the ecological conditions on the site, immediate protection purposes, protecting traditional land-use and deflecting threats, mitigation purposes and as an area set aside for manipulative research.

3.2 Activities allowed in Buffer Zones

Activities that are commonly allowed in buffer zones include; hunting or fishing using traditional methods, collection of fallen timber, harvesting of fruits, seasonal grazing of domestic stock, and harvesting of specified Non Timber Forest Products (NTFP) like rattan or grasses.

3.3 Activities not allowed in Buffer Zones

Activities that are excluded in buffer zones generally include burning of vegetation, cutting of live trees, construction of buildings and establishment of plantations.

3.4 Benefits of Buffer Zones

One of the benefits that local people derived from this type of land use is the provision of a measure of protection from wildlife degradation. Others are the establishment of physical barriers to human encroachment into the strictly protected core zones. Buffer zones also promote the sustainable use of wild plant and animal species by local communities and provide mechanisms by which local people can genuinely benefit from the existence of a protected area.

3.5 Challenges of Buffer Zone Management

One of the most serious problems in buffer zone management is the assumption that limited benefits that flow to local people can change

their behaviours, reduced pressure on the plants and animals by the protected areas and thereby enhance the conservation of biological diversity. However, only a few buffer zone management programmes have succeeded in establishing stable and compatible land use systems around protected areas in a way that local people are genuinely reconciled to the conservation function of the area.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Buffer zones play significant beneficial roles in the lives of the rural people and it can be a menace to the protected area if forest and wildlife policies are not properly enforced and implemented.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the benefit of buffer zones to rural dwellers
- the challenges of buffer zones to conservation management

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Enumerate the benefits of Buffer zones
- 2. Explain the challenges of buffer zones to implementation to forest and wildlife policies

- Adedoyin, S.O., Jimoh, S.O. and Omifolaji, J.K. (2016). Bushmeat utilization in Oban Sector of Cross River National Park- A 'biodiversity palaver'. A chapter in the book- "Global Exposition of Wildlife Management". Intech Publishing Company, Janeza Trdine 9, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/66685.
- Hart, J. A. and Kingdon, J. (2013). *Philantomba monticola*. In: J.S. Kingdon and M. Hoffmann (eds), *The Mammals of Africa*, Academic Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Ijeomah, H. M., Ogogo, A. U. and Ogbara, D. 2013. Analysis of poaching activities in Kainji Lake National Park of Nigeria. *Environment and natural resources research*, 3(1):51 61.
- "International Expert meeting on World Heritage and buffer zones". UNESCO World Heritage Convention. Retrieved 24 Nov 2010. Background and contents.

UNIT 5 CONFLICTS

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Land conflicts in protected areas
 3.1.1 Governance of land resources
 - 3.2 Poverty
 - 3.3 Climate changes
 - 3.4 Competition over scarce resources
 - 3.5 Human Wildlife Conflict
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Conflict is the situation where two or more parties perceive their interests as incompatible and express hostile attitudes or pursue their interest through actions that damage other parties. Conflicts can also be defined as a relationship involving two or more parties who have, or perceive to have, incompatible interests or goals. There has been tremendous stress on environmental resources as a result of technological advancement, human population growth, desire for higher standard of living and global interdependence. The stress is ever more apparent by the gradual loss of critical natural ecosystems worldwide which has been the major factor in the alarming rate of biodiversity loss.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the effect of poor government policies and laws as a fuel to conflict
- explain the causes of conflicts and its effect on protected areas

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Land conflicts in protected areas

Natural resource conflicts occur due to multiple and competing demands on resources. Land use conflicts can arise if user groups are excluded from participating in natural resource management, if there are

contradictions between local and introduced management systems, lack of information about policy and programme objectives, lack of clarity in laws and policies, inequity in resource distribution or poor policy and programme implementation.

3.1.1 Governance of land resources

Governance of land resources refers to the institutions, policies and processes that are established to regulate their management, ownership, allocation, use and protection. Resource rights and related laws determine who can use what resources, for how long, and under what condition if there is poor governance then land use conflict occurs.

3.2 Poverty

High levels of poverty and a lack of employment opportunities are the main causes of resource conflicts. People need incomes to support their basic needs turning them to protected areas resources like timber, minerals, bush meat and honey for supporting their life although the markets lucrative are not profitable but can bring some incomes into households. The need for food also drives populations into the PAs resources as they depend on them for food.

3.3 Climate changes

Climate change affects rainfall and temperature causing food insecurity which forces people to depend on natural resources. These changes on environment cause people to migrate to areas which are not affected by climate change like in protected areas to search for pastures and agriculture area leading to conflict.

3.4 Competition over scarce resources

The concept of resource scarcity is the situation where the supply of renewable resources such as forests, rangelands and croplands is not sufficient to meet the local demand. Increased scarcity of natural resources needed to sustain livelihoods can increase competition between user groups or between economic sectors. Social responses to rising competition can include migration, technological innovation, cooperation and violent conflict.

3.5 Human Wildlife Conflict

Conflicts between wildlife and people, particularly those who share the immediate boundaries with protected areas, are common phenomenon

all over the world. Human Wildlife Conflict (HWC) usually occurs when wildlife requirements overlap with those of human populations, creating costs to residents and wild animals. Protected Areas are sometimes instrumental in fueling social conflicts between groups. Simply put, conservation of wildlife has been a source of conflict in many parts of the world.

4.0 Conclusion

A conflict is a major threat to lives among dwellers around protected areas and conservationist. Conflicts also exist between man and wildlife. Strict measures should be taken to resolve these conflicts.

5.0 Summary

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the role of poor implementation of government policies as a catalyst to conflict
- the causes of conflict and its impact on the environment

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. What is land hunger?
- 2. Discuss extensively the causes of conflicts in protected areas

- Crawford, A. (2012). Conflict-Sensitive Conservation in Nyungwe National Park: Conflict Analysis. International Institute for Sustainable Development report. 19pp.
 - Distefano, E. (2010). Human Wildlife Conflict Worldwide: Collection of case studies, analysis of management strategies and good practices. South Africa: 1-34.
 - Kitoti, A. P., Griffin, C. R and Pamphil, L (2010). Elephant use and conflict leads to Tanzania's firstwildlife conservation corridor. *Pachyderm*, 48:57-66.
 - Siyum, B, A., Kassa, B., Sisay, B. and Gebremedhin, A.M. (2015). Farm land conflict and its socio-economic consequences in Tahtay Qoraro, Tigray, Ethiopia. *International Journal of African and Asian Studies* 9: 44 -55.

MODULE 4 FORESTRY AND WILDLIFE OUTLOOK

Unit I	Forest Industries
Unit 2	Wildlife Prospect
Unit 3	Protected Areas and Uses
Unit 4	Global View of Forestry Sector
Unit 5	National Environmental Regulation

UNIT 1 FOREST INDUSTRIES

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Wood Based Panels
 - 3.2 Particle Board
 - 3.3 Furniture industries
 - 3.4 Industrial Round wood
 - 3.5 Employment Opportunities
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Forests serve as an engine of growth that propels economic activities especially for a nation that is endowed with abundant forest resources. The forest products industry in Nigeria was one of the most developed within the Nigerian economy in the 1960's to the early 1970's. During this period, export of wood products and agricultural commodities provided more than 70% of the country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Forestry Outlook Study for Africa (FOSA) is an initiative led by FAO and carried out in partnership with all African nations, the African Development Bank, the European Commission, regional and subregional inter-governmental organizations, the World Bank and others. It is a process for analyzing the future potential of the forestry sector to contribute to the well-being of African citizens through its economic, social and environmental functions. FOSA will analyze the status, trends and driving forces shaping African Forestry, provide a region-wide vision of the sector to the year 2020 and identify policies, programmes and investment options that will help move the sector forward.

The Nigerian Forests supports a wide range of forest industries, which include both the formal and informal sub-sectors. A vast majority of the Nigerian populace depend on these industries thus placing a lot of pressure on the forest resources of the nation. The formal sector is essentially wood based and is fairly well developed and comprise mechanical wood industries, including sawmills, veneer and plywood manufactures, particle board, paper and paper board manufactures. Furniture manufacturing is also carried out at a secondary level.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the industries in forest
- itemize some of the challenges facing the forest industries

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Wood Based Panels

There are eight veneer and plywood plants in the country using approximately 170,000 m³ of logs per annum. Veneer slicing operations are all integrated within plywood mills. Plywood requirements for the country were estimated at 179,000 m³ in 1990 and this was expected to increase to 285,000 m³ in 2000 and 450,000 m³ in 2010. At the same time wood availability is expected to decrease from 170,000 m³ in 1990 to an expected 119,000 m³ in 2010. It is evident that demand for veneer logs outstrips supply. The total capacity of eight mills is 126,000 m³/year and capacity utilization by 1993 was 57.3%. Veneer mills are already experiencing difficulties in acquiring log supplies.

3.2 Particle Board

Particle board requirements for the country are estimated at 108,000 m³ in 1990, 199,000 m³ in 2000. Current production is hampered by high cost of foreign exchange for new equipment, spare parts and glue acquisition. The particle board production lines in Nigeria are integrated with sawmills and plywood mills, the residues of which they recycle.

3.3 Furniture industries

The furniture industry is strategic in the use of planks from the saw mills. It forms the major market for wood products in Nigeria and protects the continued existence of primary wood industries such as sawmills and ply mills.

More than 400 furniture companies of various sizes exist in the country. The shortfall in large furniture companies is made up by the numerous cottage and small scale furniture makers which numbers more than 10,000 outlets. This category of furniture makers usually operate in the informal sector and are found in the rural and urban areas where middle and low income earners reside. Wooden furniture parts and components are now being manufactured and exported by a few large companies in Nigeria. Wooden furniture represents the major market for wood products in Nigeria. Many of the industries suffer from high cost of production due to energy cost and lack of patronage.

3.4 Industrial Round wood

Round wood production in Nigeria comes mostly from the natural high forest zone of the country, in particular from the Southern states of Cross River, Edo, Ogun, Ondo and Oyo states of Nigeria. Round wood is no longer exported from Nigeria since this has been placed on ban.

3.5 Employment Opportunities

Forestry sector provides employment opportunities for thousands of Nigeria. These include management staff, the labour forces in all forest based industries. About 80% of the rural population of Nigeria is engaged in agro-forestry and other agro-allied activities.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Forestry industries have unique and present rare opportunities for Nigeria and Nigerian populace if adequate attention is given to this sector.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the various forestry industries and their relevance to National development
- the challenges of some of the forestry industries

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1 List and discuss seven forestry industries and the challenges militating against these industries
- 2. Explain the effect of weak forest policies on forestry industries in Nigeria

3. Write out the current status of the Forestry industries in Nigeria

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Badejo, S.O.O., R.A. Baiyewu and K.S. Aina, 2008. Wealth creation through utilization of wood wastes,In: L. popoola (ed) proc. Of 32n d annual conference of Forest Association of Nigeria (FAN) Umuahia, 637-648.
- Canby, K., 2006. Investing in natural tropical forest industries, ITTO tropical forest update, 16(2): 4-8.
- RMRDC (2009) Multi-Disciplinary task force report of the technoeconomic survey on wood and wood products. Raw materials research and development council publications.
- Larinde S.L (2010) Secondary processing and the Nigerian saw mill industry: Issues, challenges and opportunities. In S.Kolade Adeyoju and S.O Bada (Eds) *Readings in sustainable tropical forest management*. Pp 277-291
- NACETEM (2010). Assessment of innovation capability in the manufacturing sector of Nigeria. Monograph Series (Nos 4). National Centre for Technology Management. ISBN 987-978-49820-3-0. 97 pp.

UNIT 2 WILDLIFE PROSPECT

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Protecting wildlife from harmful processes
 - 3.2 Regulating different types of wildlife use and of hunting
 - 3.3 Accurately identifying game and non-game species
 - 3.4 Endangered animals
 - 3.5 Sustainable Use
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The wildlife of Nigeria is particularly varied because of the country's location, size and the ecological zones. The lowland Rain Forest Ecological Zone is the richest zone in Nigeria in terms of biodiversity and the most valuable forest resources (FDF, 1998). There are about 129 large mammal species in the rainforest and include African Elephants (Loxodonta africana), African buffalo (Syncerus hippopotamus (Hippopotamus amphibius). Other large species include the large duikers (for example, cephabphus nigger) the Chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes), and the red river-hog (*Potamachoerus porcus*). In the savannas, they include the hartebeest (Alcephalus buselaphus) and warthog (Phacochoerus aethiopicus). In areas of derived savannah, forest species such as elephants and chimpanzees may be observed foraging on food crops adjacent to the forest. There are also a wide variety of small mammals including the grass cutter (Thryonomys swinderiannus), giant rats (Cricetomys spp.), tree squirrels (Funisciurus spp.) and a range of primates. Indeed there are 123 species in the Guinea savannas while 35 species of bats, 23 species of rodents and 20 species of carnivores among others are represented in the country. The lowland rain forest zone also provides habitat for about 200 species of birds. The effect of population pressures on this wildlife is very profound as they are indiscriminately hunted for food and trophy.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- expanciate on the role of wildlife policies on the relative abundance
- explain what threatened, endangered and wildlife extinction is about

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Protecting wildlife from harmful processes

Wildlife conservation does not only entail the protection of species or of their habitats from activities directly affecting them (such as off-take and trade), but also protecting them from activities that may indirectly impact on them in a negative way. This is the case of industrial developments, construction, tourism and mining operations that may result in a serious disturbance to wildlife species or in the destruction of their habitat. In addition, competing land uses (forestry or agriculture) may also affect wildlife, and usually different pieces of legislation may regulate in different (and sometimes conflicting) ways their impacts on wildlife. This is in recognition of the fact that actual or potential effects of human activities may concern adjacent or other ecosystems. Indeed, in accordance with the Convention on Biological Diversity, countries are required to identify and control all potential sources of adverse impacts on biodiversity, and to carry out environmental impact assessments of projects likely to have "significant adverse effects" on biodiversity.

3.2 Regulating different types of wildlife use and of hunting

According to the ecosystem approach, the objectives of sustainable use should be determined in order to provide policy guidance, and inform management and planning. Defining and regulating different types of wildlife use including hunting (i.e., subsistence/cultural, recreational, and scientific) and non-hunting uses (such as eco-tourism, game ranching and breeding) is common in regulatory schemes, but regrettably rarely useful. The most frequent problem is the failure to make a connection between the defined types of use, the procedural mechanisms that implement them, and the associated values, quotas, and areas where they may take place.

3.3 Accurately identifying game and non-game species

To avoid confusion, international best practice dictates that hunting legislation should specifically identify (using common names and scientific names) not only what can be hunted, but also what cannot. Many hunting regulations use only common names and catch-all categories that can result in confusion and possible management gaps. This is especially true for birds where catch-all categories such as "waterfowl" or "ducks and geese" are used to regulate hunting of all birds that fall within that category. In either of these examples, the category includes several species some of which may be globally threatened and/or listed in a particular country as endangered. A failure to make the necessary distinctions may inadvertently result in legally authorizing the take of species not intended by the drafters.

3.4 Endangered animals

Endangered animals are species that are seriously at risk of extinction. They are categorized as likely to become extinct. Endangered (EN), as categorized by the International Union for Conservation of Nature. Nigeria contains portions of the Savannas, Gulf of Guinea Rivers, Coastal Forests, Coast Mangroves and others that house a lot of animals. The following are some animals in that are rated as Endangered (EN) or Vulnerable (VU) as contains in the 2004 IUCN Red List of Threatened Animals. They are: Chimpanzee, Crested Genet, **Dama Gazelle**, Giant African Water Shrew, **Cross River Gorilla and the Hartwig's Softfurred Mouse**.

3.5 Sustainable Use

The law plays a fundamental role in regulating different uses of wildlife and ensuring that these are sustainable. Besides the need for accordance with management planning, there are several specific legal tools that can be used to ensure sustainable use by regulating hunting, recreational, traditional/subsistence and scientific use of wildlife, as well as trade. These tools include the use of administrative instruments (quotas, licenses/permits and concessions) or contractual arrangements (agreements) to be adapted on a case-by-case basis, as well as general provisions on the regulation of the quantity, time and methods for specific uses.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Due to the anthropogenic activities of man and a very weak nonenforceable forest and wildlife policies and laws, the fate of wildlife species is bleak as can be seen of some of the wild animals, being either threatened, endangered or going into extinction.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- some regulations that will lead to the successful conservation off wildlife
- the reasons why some wildlife species are endangered and the wise use of wildlife resources

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Discuss the prospect of wildlife species to the development of the Nigerian economy.
- 2. List some threatened wildlife in Nigeria and the effect of wildlife laws and policies

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Donaldson, J.S. (2010). "Encephalartos brevifoliolatus". The IUCN Red List of ThreatenedSpecies. IUCN. 2010:e.T41882A10566751. doi:10.23 05/IUCN.UK.2010 3.RLTS.T41882A10566751.en. Retrieved 14 January 2018.

FAO Legal Papers Online December 2008

```
Dirzo, Rodolfo; Hillary S. Young; Mauro Galetti; Gerardo Ceballos; Nick J. B. Isaac;BenCollen(2014). "DefaunationintheAnthropocene" (PDF). Science. 345 (6195): 401–406. doi:10.1126/science.1251817. Archived (PDF) from the original on 2017-05-11.
```

UNIT 3 PROTECTED AREAS

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Strict Nature Reserve
 - 3.2 Wilderness Area
 - 3.3 Protected Landscape / Seascape
 - 3.4 National Park
 - 3.5 Forest Management
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) defines a protected area as "An area of land and/or sea especially dedicated to the protection and maintenance of biological diversity, and of natural and associated cultural resources and managed through legal or other effective means". Protected areas are special places which are established and designated for the protection of important cultural or natural values. They have always been part of human culture and from the beginning of time people have associated certain places with special values and protected them from disturbance or exploitation. These include religious, spiritual and cultural places; in recent years, parks and natural areas have been added.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain clearly protected areas in Nigeria
- explain the roles of protected areas in Nigeria

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Strict Nature Reserve

This is an area managed mainly for scientific purposes. Researches are carried out in this environment.

3.2 Wilderness Area

Wilderness areas are managed mainly for wilderness protection.

3.3 Protected Landscape / Seascape

This area is managed mainly for landscape/seascape conservation and recreation

3.4 National Park

This is a large area of land managed mainly for ecosystem protection and recreation.

3.5 Forest Management

While the forests have many important uses only proper management will ensure the continuous supply of forest products and environmental sustainability. The important management techniques used for forest management includes: forest regulation, selective exploration, deforestation, regeneration, afforestation and taungya system.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Protected areas are a large tract of land depending on the purpose for its setup, for the conservation of wild flora and fauna species for man's benefit.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- some protected areas
- the uses or reasons for setting up protected areas

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. List all the protected areas in Nigeria
- 2. Discuss in detail the uses of all the listed protected areas in Nigeria

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Adeyemo AI, Oladeji SO (2013). Ecotourism for stemming employment, terrorism and alleviating poverty in West Africa: Proceedings of 3rd Regional Conference on Tourism Research 29th-31st, Oct., 2013, Langkawi, Malaysia, pp. 199-205.

- Bernama. 2009. Sarawak closer to producing anti-HIV, cancer drugs. The Star, Saturday June 27, 2009. Accessed at: http://thestar.com.my/news/story.asp?file=/2009/6/27/nation/200906271 95724&sec=nation.
- Nathaniel IT, Nathaniel A (2013). The effects of poverty in conservation of biodiversity: The Nigeria Experience. Science in Africa.
- NCF, (2007). Nigerian Conservation Foundation, Annual Report 2007
- Pagiola, S. 2008. Payments for environmental services in Costa Rica. *Ecological Economics:* 65: 712-724.
- Temu, A., Mwanje, I. and Mogotsi, K. 2003. Improving agriculture and natural resources education in Africa: a stitch in time. World Agroforestry Centre, Nairobi.

UNIT 4 GLOBAL VIEW OF FORESTRY SECTOR

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Economic Development
 - 3.2 Global Wood Products Industry to 2030
 - 3.3 Wood Products
 - 3.4 Globalization
 - 3.5 Policies, Regulations and Customer Preferences Linked to Climate Change
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Although separated by great, but diminishing, geographical and cultural distances, the forest sectors of different countries are linked through international trade and global environmental policies. To a large extent the future of any country, even a large country such as the United States, depends on world markets. It is therefore critical to understand how these markets work, and how they are affected by economic, demographic and biological change, and by deliberate policy. Forestry and forests are changing under several drivers such as globalization, climate change, political instability, aging society, new technologies, and bio economy/green economy. Holistic and integrative approaches are needed, such as ecosystem services and corporate social response.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain the global outlook of some forest industries
- discuss the effect of climate change on forest policies and regulation

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Economic Development

Economic growth, measured by the rate of change in gross domestic product (GDP), is generally associated with growing demand for products and services, including wood products. According to neoclassical growth theory, economic growth is driven by growth in population (*i.e.*, labor supply), capital and technological change. Due to diminishing returns to capital, and labor increases, economies will eventually reach a point (steady state) at which no new increase in production factors will create economic growth.

3.2 Global Wood Products Industry to 2030

Global forest area is predicted to reverse its historical decline increasing from 4.0 billion ha in 2000 to 4.1 billion ha in 2030. This trend, however, hides continuing tropical forest loss, with 243 million ha predicted to be lost between 2000 and 2030. The largest predicted losses of forest area are in Africa and South America, due to slower growth in income per capita in these regions. Global forest stock is predicted to increase from 452 billion m³ in 2000 to 535 billion m³ in 2030, with most of this increase occurring in the non-tropical countries.

3.3 Wood Products

The Global Forest Products Model projections suggest that the value of global consumption of wood products will increase in real terms at 1.9% per annum from US \$597 billion in 2002 to US \$1,023 billion in 2030. This reverses the decline in the value of consumption between 1992 and 2002, which occurred due to falling wood product prices and the decline in Russian production. The historical trend of processed products increasing their share of global wood product production and consumption is predicted to continue. This is due to countries demanding more processed wood products particle board, fibre board, printing and writing paper, and other paper and paperboard as they become wealthier.

3.4 Globalization

For the forest sector, the principal effect of globalization has been reduced transport costs, which have led to increased forest-product trade and the creation of a truly global market for forest products. Globalization has reduced the importance of forest resources for the forest industry, and development has been driven predominantly by labor costs, levels of research and technology, and access to capital. Intensively managed forest plantations are increasingly replacing natural forests as the raw material resource. These changes eliminate the traditional ties between forest processing and locations with abundant

natural forests. Hence, forest industry functions have become spatially separated, *i.e.*, companies now utilize materials from various sources, and consequently can site manufacturing plants at different locations along the value chain, from the forest to the consumer.

3.5 Policies, Regulations and Customer Preferences Linked to Climate Change

Policies aimed at mitigating climate-change can affect forest-product markets in various ways. One is by encouraging use of wood products instead of other materials that yield more Green House G emissions during the course of their production, subsequent use and disposal. As an example, public policies promoting the use of energy-efficient, renewable construction materials (e.g., the Code for Sustainable Homes in the UK) could boost global demand for construction timber. However, the way in which green building standards are formulated will greatly influence the strength of preferences for sustainable wood products over competing materials, based on lifecycle carbon emissions.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Forestry and forests are changing under several drivers such as globalization, climate change, political instability, aging society, new technologies, and bio economy/green economy. Holistic and integrative approaches are needed, such as ecosystem services and corporate social response.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- forestry outlook of forestry globally
- the outlook of forestry sector up to 2030

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1 Discuss the global view of the forestry sector

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

2011 by the authors; licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

FAO, 2013. What is an outlook study? Available at: http://www.fao.org/forestry/ outlook/en/ (Accessed 30/4/2013).

- Mantau, U. et al. 2010. EUwood Real potential for changes in growth and use of EU forests. Final report. Hamburg, Germany.
- Schelhaas, M.J., Didion, M., Hengeveld, G., Nabuurs, G.J., Mason, B., Lindner, M., Moiseyev, A. and Edwards, D. 2011. Impact of different levels of nature conservation designation on European forest resources. Submitted to Ecology and Society.
- Wear, D.N. 2011. Forecasts of county-level land use under three future scenarios: A technical document supporting the Forest Service 2010 RPA Assessment. General Technical Report SRS-GTR-X, USDA Forest Service Southern Research Station, Asheville, North Carolina.

UNIT 5 GLOBAL OUTLOOK OF WILDLIFE SECTOR

CONTENTS

1 (T , 1	. •
1.0	Introdu	10t10n
1.0	muout	ıcuon

- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 International wildlife tourism
 - 3.2 Governing Global Wildlife Trade
 - 3.3 Changes in the geographical range of Fauna
 - 3.4 World marine capture production
 - 3.5 Wetlands in international agreements
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

- 2.0 nvironmentally unsustainable anthropogenic
- 3.0 activities have resulted in a significant increase in
- 4.0 the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases
- 5.0 has substantially increased the global average
- 6.0 ambient and sea surface temperature. This situation
- 7.0 has convoked changes in the natural climatic
- 8.0 regimes in the global scale.
- 9.0 nvironmentally unsustainable anthropogenic
- 10.0 activities have resulted in a significant increase in
- 11.0 the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases
- 12.0 has substantially increased the global average
- 13.0 ambient and sea surface temperature. This situation
- 14.0 has convoked changes in the natural climatic
- 15.0 regimes in the global scale.
- 16.0 Environmentally unsustainable anthropogenic
- 17.0 activities have resulted in a significant increase in
- 18.0 the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases
- 19.0 has substantially increased the global average
- 20.0 ambient and sea surface temperature. This situation
- 21.0 has convoked changes in the natural climatic
- 22.0 regimes in the global scale.
- 23.0 Environmentally unsustainable anthropogenic
- 24.0 activities have resulted in a significant increase in
- 25.0 the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases
- 26.0 has substantially increased the global average
- 27.0 ambient and sea surface temperature. This situation

- 28.0 has convoked changes in the natural climatic
- 29.0 regimes in the global scale.

Environmentally unsustainable anthropogenic activities have resulted in a significant increase in the atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases has substantially increased the global average ambient and sea surface temperature. This situation has convoked changes in the natural climatic regimes in the global scale. Climate change has impacted natural terrestrial ecosystems and wildlife in multiple ways. The trade in wildlife products, whether legal or illegal, is one of the most valuable businesses in the world. Tourism is classically regarded as traveling for recreation although this definition has been expanded in recent years to include any travel outside of one's normal working or living area. The global water cycle underpins primary production and nutrient recycling and provides fresh water and food for people. Wetlands are used for transport and hydropower. They provide raw materials and genetic resources, including medicines. They also help to mitigate floods, protect coastlines and store and sequester carbon.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- discuss the present trends in the wildlife sector
- explain the future global fate of the wildlife sector

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 International wildlife tourism

Wildlife viewing has been identified as the activity forecast to have strong potential within the adventure travel sector in the world. Wildlife tourism globally attracts very large numbers of tourists, though there are no reliable global estimates for this sector as a whole. Judging by statistics available for North America, many millions more participate in other forms of viewing of free-ranging animals. Probably even greater numbers of people participate in viewing animals in zoos, with an estimated 600 million visitors annually. Consequently, wildlife tourism generates very large financial revenues on a global scale.

3.2 Governing Global Wildlife Trade

The legal and illegal trades in wildlife are highly transnational – global trading routes link source countries with end- user markets via a series of complex networks, intermediaries and entrepôts. As a result,

governing the wildlife trade is a complex challenge, made even more difficult when that trade is illegal. The transnational nature of the legal and illegal trades' means that inter- state and multi- agency cooperation are required to ensure that the trade does not over- exploit particular species and risk driving them to extinction. The core aim of CITES is to monitor and regulate trade in wildlife and plants to ensure that they are not negatively affected by that trade. It operates via biennial Conference of the Parties (CoP), a system of appendices and national scientific and management authorities. CITES policy is based on the 'precautionary principle': policymakers must err on the side of caution if scientific experts cannot prove whether trade is damaging wildlife populations.

3.3 Changes in the geographical range of Fauna

The geographical distribution of wildlife is highly influenced by climatic regimes, often by the means of species-specific physiological thresholds of temperature, precipitation, ambient humidity, and moisture regimes (Hoffman & Parsons, 1997). With on-going warming trends, these 'bioclimate envelopes' move towards poles or higher altitudes. Moreover, Habitat occupancy of fauna can be highly influenced by presence of their preferred vegetation community, which could shift in response to climate change. Therefore, within the limits of their dispersal capacity and resource wild fauna will track shifting climatic envelopes as well as their preferred vegetation community and shift their range poleward in latitude and upward in altitude

The geographical distribution of wildlife is highly influenced by climatic regimes, often by the means of species-specific physiological thresholds of temperature, precipitation, ambient humidity, and moisture regimes. With on-going warming trends, these 'bio-climate envelopes' move towards poles or higher altitudes. Moreover, Habitat occupancy of fauna can be highly influenced by presence of their preferred vegetation community, which could shift in response to climate change. Therefore, within the limits of their dispersal capacity and resource wild fauna will track shifting climatic envelopes as well as their preferred vegetation community and shift their range pole ward in latitude and upward in altitude.

3.4 World marine capture production

Total capture production in marine waters was 81.5 million tonnes in 2014. There are still several countries that do not regularly report their annual catch statistics to FAO or for which data are not entirely reliable.

3.5 Wetlands in international agreements

In December 2015, 196 governments agreed to an ambitious programme of climate change mitigation and adaptation under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. This calls on States to develop Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) to address climate change, with nature-based solutions as a key component, including from wetlands. These have a critical role in both adaptation and mitigation; in the latter through carbon storage and sequestration, particularly in peat soils and blue carbon in coastal waters.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Conservation and wise use of wetlands are vital for human livelihoods. The wide range of ecosystem services wetlands provide means that they lie at the heart of sustainable development. Yet policy and decision-makers often underestimate the value of their benefits to nature and humankind. Today's holistic approach to sustainable management and development of fisheries and aquaculture, as promoted by FAO's Blue Growth Initiative aims at reconciling economic growth with improved livelihoods and social equity. It balances the sustainable and socioeconomic management of natural aquatic resources with an emphasis on efficient resource use in capture fisheries and aquaculture, ecosystem services, trade, livelihoods and food systems.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- international organisation that is governing the forestry outlook of forestry globally
- the future outlook of wildlife

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. List and discuss international agencies in wildlife sector globally
- 2. Wildlife tourism the global prospect

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Duffy, Rosaleen (2013), 'Global environmental governance and North South dynamics: The case of the CITES', Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 31 (2), 222 39.
- FAO (2015). *Gender and Land Rights Database*. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations http://www.fao.org/gender-landrights-database/data-map/statis-tics/en/?sta_id=1162.
- FAO. 2016. Blue growth unlocking the potential of seas and oceans. In: *FAO* [online]. [Cited 8 May 2016]. www.fao.org/zhc/detailevents/en/c/233765/
- Scaling Up Nutrition. 2016. *Empowering women and girls to improve nutrition: Building a sisterhood of success.* Scaling up nutrition in practice 6. Geneva.
- Stuart, S.N., Chanson, J.S., Cox, N.A., Young, B.E., Rodrigues, A.S.L., et al. (2014). Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. *Science*: 1103538.
- Timmer, P. 2014. *Managing structural transformation: A political economy approach*. UNU-WIDER Annual Lecture 18. Helsinki, UNU-WIDER (United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research).

MODULE 5 INSTITUTIONS AND THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES

Unit 1	Federal Ministry of Environment
Unit 2	Forestry Department
Unit 3	Wildlife Department
Unit 4	Ministry of Agriculture
Unit 5	Universities/ Colleges and Technical Schools

UNIT 1 FEDERAL MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Environmental Impact Assessment
 - 3.2 National Park Services
 - 3.3 Land Degradation
 - 3.4 Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria
 - 3.5 Reforestation and Conservation
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

A number of institutions and organizations have been designated to carry out activities that could facilitate the implementation of the Conservation of Biological Diversity in Nigeria. The Federal Ministry of Environment coordinates the activities of these institutions. The creation of the Ministry is a deliberate design by the Federal Government to achieve a well-articulated, effective and efficient and efficient outfit that will adequately address and manage environmental issues in Nigeria in a holistic manner, devoid of duplication of efforts and competition among various government agencies.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

 explain the duties and responsibilities of the Federal Ministry of Environment • list some of the Departments that works under the Federal Ministry of Environment

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Environmental Impact Assessment

The Federal Ministry of Environment has the responsibility to ensure that all developmental projects are subjected to Environmental Impact Assessment before they are embarked upon.

3.2 National Park Services

The National Parks Service a parastatal of the Federal Ministry of Environment has the overall responsibility for the protection and conservation of biodiversity in the National parks.

3.3 Land Degradation

The Federal Ministry of Environment has the responsibility to ensure the control land degradation including soil erosion, combat desertification, abate pollution.

3.4 Trained Personnel

It also assists in the development of trained manpower to meet the demands of environmental management.

3.5 Reforestation and Conservation

The Federal Ministry of Environment has the responsibility to embark on reforestation and conservation of biological diversity.

4.0 CONCLUSION

Federal Ministry of Environment plays significant role in the protection and conservation of Earth's natural resources.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the important roles of Federal Ministry of Environment
- some of the agencies that work under the Federal Ministry Environment

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. Discuss the respective roles of the Federal Ministry of Environment to conservation of Flora and Fauna species in Nigeria

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Agbamu JU (2006). Poverty reduction strategies for agricultural and rural development in Nigeria. *In*: Adedoyin SF (ed.). Proc. of the Agric. Ext. Soc. of Nigeria (AESON) held in Badeggi, Niger State, between 14th and 17th June, 2005. pp. 159-165.
- Agbogidi OM, Ofuoku AU (2007). Promoting environmental protection in Nigeria through environmental education: the role of women. J. Environ.Ext., 6: 17-24.
- Faleyimu OI, Akinyemi O, Agbeja BO. Incentives for Forestry Development in the South-West Nigeria. African Journal of General Agriculture. 2010;6(2):67-76.

FOURTH NATIONAL BIODIVERSITY REPORT ABUJA 2010

UNIT 2 FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE OF NIGERIA

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Genetic Regeneration
 - 3.2 Ecology
 - 3.3 Pest Control
 - 3.4 Cultivation
 - 3.5 Protection
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria was established as Federal Department of Forestry Research in 1954. The Institute's Decree 35 of 1973 and order establishing Research Institute of 1977 changed the status of the Department to an institute being supervised by the Federal Ministry of Environment, but the only Research Institute of the Ministry. For the purpose of developing the nation's education, Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria have a subsidiary college name Federal College of Forestry located in Ibadan charged with training and developing forestry and agricultural practice. The Federal College of Forestry, Ibadan (FEDCOFOR) has six specialized research departments (each having various specialized sections), three support departments. The following Departments of Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria includes; Sustainable Forest Management Department, Forest Product Development & Utilization Department, Forest Conservation Protection Department, Forest Economics & Extension Department, Environmental Modelling & Management Department, Information and Documentation Department and Administration and Personnel Department.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

• explain the function of Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria

• identify the various Departments within Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria and their respective research objectives

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Genetic Regeneration

Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria has the responsibility of improving genetic value of species of economic potentials.

3.2 Ecology

The research institute is saddled with the responsibility of improving the knowledge of the ecology of plants and animals.

3.3 Pest Control

It is to also improve knowledge of the methods of pest control and management of biodiversity in natural forest.

3.4 Cultivation

It is to integrate the cultivation of wild plants and wild animals of economic importance into the farming systems in different ecological zones to yield positive socio-economic benefits to the rural populace.

3.5 Protection

The Institute also performs the function of protecting the flora and fauna heritage while providing information through research.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The value of Nature's biodiversity is rich source of heritage from the creator which needs constant care and attention for man's benefit. Forest Research Institute of Nigeria has proved to be an invaluable asset in conserving nature's unique heritage.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the various Department of Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria
- function of the Institute

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. List and discuss the functions of the Department of Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria: From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, this page was last edited on 18 May 2018, at 17:56 (UTC).

Fourth National Biodiversity Report Abuja 2010.

UNIT 3 WILDLIFE DEPARTMENT

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Wild Training and Research Institutions
 - 3.2 International agreements on the Protection of the Environment
 - 3.3 Environmental impact assessment
 - 3.4 International NGO's
 - 3.5 Influence of Donors and International Institutions
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Wildlife management structures depend on the organisation in each country. These structures correspond to the constraints and advantages of national policies, and affect the establishment of wildlife management. Legal tools may ensure that local or indigenous communities will be able to benefit from wildlife management in a way that promotes biodiversity conservation, supports livelihoods and reduces poverty. Restrictive or flexible approaches to wildlife conservation, institutional arrangements for wildlife management, and related rules on tenure, management planning and requirements to ensure sustainable wildlife use form the basis of legal arrangements that establish how wildlife will be managed in a particular country and whether benefits from such management will reach local communities. Institutional arrangements for wildlife management vary from one country to another. Key legal issues concern the clear allocation of institutional mandates, the need to create mechanisms for interinstitutional coordination when more than one administrative entity is in charge of wildlife management or closely related issues and the need to ensure public participation in decision-making.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- understand the important role of wildlife department
- explain the various branches of wildlife department

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Wildlife Training and Research Institutions

In Nigeria, there is the (Federal College of Wildlife) training, New Bussa. The training programs of this college have been targeted to wildlife management techniques, and other related ecology and biology sciences. Local people were supposed ignorant and their possible indigenous knowledge on wildlife was fully neglected. The only social science courses taught were focused on extension issues such as how wildlife managers should address their technocratic willingness to local people.

3.2 International agreements on the protection of the Environment

It is clear that West African Countries are parties to the main conventions related to Wildlife conservation: Biodiversity, Climate Change, Desertification, Endangered species CITES), the law of the Sea, and the Organization of African Union convention. That indicates their willingness to cooperate on regional and world-wide options for nature protection. However, there is a lack of national resources engaged in wildlife conservation projects.

3.3 Environmental impact assessment

Efficient management of wildlife also entails protection from indirect threats, such as land uses other than hunting and other harmful processes. Usually legislation makes use of environmental impact assessments (EIA) to this end, but not necessarily specific wildlife concerns are taken into account. In addition, the extent of public participation in the EIA processes varies from one country to another, thus influencing the possibility of interested or potentially affected stakeholders to contribute information, share traditional knowledge and generally have their views heard.

3.4 International NGO's

There is a feeling that the region has been neglected for decades by number of international NGOs dealing with Wildlife conservation issues, perhaps as a result of poor publicity from the region itself. Most of nature conservation NGOs has also restricted their operations to tree planting, combating Desertification, and reforestation. Among the

reasons of that, the obstacles of wildlife legislations containing a lot of risks, and no incentive for investors.

3.5 Influence of Donors and International Institutions

These partners in the processes of Development in Africa can play very positive or very negative role in Wildlife Conservation issues. For instance, by funding only reforestation projects in the Sahel for a long period, Environment authorities have withdrawn the human resources of Wildlife conservation for afforestation activities and commitments.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The need for sustainable wildlife conservation is becoming more and more glaring as anthropogenic activities increases on a daily basis; hence wildlife department is one of the very important institutions to meet this challenge.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the role of wildlife department to conserving wild animals sustainably
- international support to wildlife conservation

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

1. List and explain wildlife agencies to the conservation of wildlife resources

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

Australia, 2009. Fourth National Report to the CBD

Cirelli, M.T. and Morgera, E. 2009a. "Wildlife law and the legal empowerment of the poor in Sub-saharan Africa," FAO Papers Online #77. Available at: www.fao.org/legal.

Evaluating Eden Series Working Paper No.9: COMMUNITY WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT IN WEST AFRICA.

UNIT 4 MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Roles of the Agricultural Sector
 - 3.2 Planned Agricultural Programmes
 - 3.3 Era of Agriculture Promotion Policy
 - 3.4 Agricultural Productivity in Nigeria
 - 3.5 Challenges and prospects of achieving the Agriculture Promotion Policy
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The agricultural sector has witnessed remarkable policy changes since the Nigerian Vision 20: 2020 (NV20: 2020) was launched in 2009. The first implementation plan (2010-2013) was ongoing when the agricultural transformation agenda (ATA) came on stream in 2011 and lasted till 2015. In August 2016, the agriculture promotion policy (otherwise known as the Green Alternative) was launched and it is now reshaping the direction of agricultural development in the country. As the nation experienced these different phases of strategic plans there has been no systematic framework of reviewing the performance of the sector in a holistic fashion to provide evidence to guide policy decisions and development strategies.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- explain in detail the roles of agricultural sector as a major economic developer
- enumerate some of the planned agricultural programmes
- explain some of the challenges facing the agricultural sector

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Roles of the Agricultural Sector

Agriculture has traditionally been characterized as the "mainstay" of the Nigerian economy with many assigned roles to perform in the course of the country's economic development. Among the roles conventionally ascribed to the agricultural sector in a growing economy are those of providing adequate food for an increasing population, supplying adequate raw materials to a growing industrial sector, constituting the major source of employment constituting a major source of foreign exchange earnings and providing a market for the products of the industrial sector. Supports biodiversity conservation in grazing reserves through control of hunting and harvesting of plants, encourage and promote the consolidation of scattered and fragmented farm holdings, encourages production of agricultural crops and commodities to ensure food and nutrition security in the country and for export.

3.2 Planned Agricultural Programmes

Under the vision 2020, the following are the planned agricultural programmes; Intensification of applied research; the strengthening of the Agricultural Research Council of Nigeria (ARCN), Establishment and equipment of additional Research Institutes including the unbundling of the National Animal Production Research Institute (NAPRI) into a Beef and Dairy Cattle Research Institute to be located at Shika - Zaria with outstations in Sokoto, Jalingo, Umuahia, Maiduguri, Ilorin and Ebonyi (for Muturu sp.), a National Swine Research Institute, Makurdi, Benue State with outstations in Asaba, Ogbomosho and Awka; a National Poultry Research Institute, Enugu with outstations in Lokoja, Ado Ekiti and Minna; National Pasture/ Forage Research Institute, Yola, Adamawa State with outstations in Birnin-Kebbi, Shika, Abakaliki, Establishment of specialized centres and laboratories for crops, livestock and fisheries agricultural biotechnology research for the focused and intensified production of high yielding, consistently conformational and disease-resistant species of crops, livestock and fishery, with due consideration given to all ethical concerns.

3.3 Era of Agriculture Promotion Policy

In June 2016, the Agriculture Promotion Policy was launched and has since continued to guide the development initiatives in the sector. It strives to consolidate the successes of the Agricultural Transformation Agenda (ATA), close the policy gaps and reposition the sector for greater investment and increased diversification in order to accelerate

economic recovery, reduce poverty and enhance food security. There is a clear policy thrust which centres on food security, import substitution, job creation and economic diversification. This is to be achieved through a three-pronged approach of productivity enhancement (with emphasis on access to land, soil fertility improvement, access to information and knowledge, production management, storage, processing, marketing and trade, private investment expansion with emphasis on access to finance and agribusiness investment development and institutional realignment for improved service delivery and development outcomes with emphasis on greater inclusiveness, participation of youth and women, infrastructure, research and innovation, climate change as well as food and nutrition security.

3.4 Agricultural Productivity in Nigeria

It is generally known that low productivity especially in terms of yield is a major characteristic of the agricultural systems - crop, livestock and fishery - in Nigeria. Crop yields in the country are lower than those of most other countries, both in food and cash crop and animal husbandry; and for virtually all the crops, there is an inverse relationship between growth in land area under cultivation and yields. As shown in Figure 3, the yields of grains such as rice, maize, beans and millet remain very low during the period under review. Under the vision 2020, a 3 and 6 fold increase in productivity was targeted by 2015 and 2020 respectively compared to the level in 2009. Applying these to the key staples below, we observe that 2015 yields are far below levels required for overall productivity to have tripled by 2015 and further increase by 2020.

3.5 Challenges and prospects of achieving the Agriculture Promotion Policy

The Nigerian rural economy is still faced with the challenge of subsistent farming. This affects the inability to meet domestic food requirements in rural Nigeria. Although there is a provision for private partnership in this regard, the policy has not stated in clear terms how the vulnerable rural poor will be able to access farming support programmes without collaterals. Access to support to enhance commercialization by rural farmers has always and still is a challenge in achieving the Nigeria Promotion Policy. Subsistence farming is no longer a solution, Nigeria has to commercialize agricultural production and fully adopt mechanize farming. In addition, mechanization of the agricultural industry is the way out of solving Nigeria's problem. This can be achieved by matching up human input with mechanization, bringing in machinery and increase the scale of production, so that

whatever the rural sector produces, it will match the population growth rate.

4.0 CONCLUSION

The Nigerian rural sector depends on a wide range of agricultural products in almost all aspects of life. It is a key economic driver. It is central to individual livelihoods and alleviates poverty. Provider of energy fuel-wood and medical plants, it helps in Nations economic growth.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- some of the planned agricultural programmes in the vision 2020
- the various important roles of the agricultural sector
- the challenges facing the agricultural sector

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1 Discuss the importance of agriculture in forest and wildlife conservation
- 2 List and discuss challenges facing the agricultural sector

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Ayodele, O. S., Obafemi, F. N., & Ebong, F. S. (2013). Challenges facing the achievement of the Nigeria vision. Global Advanced Research Journal of Social Sciences, 27, 143-157.
- Fatokun, A. (2015). The importance of agriculture towards the development of Nigeria economy. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/importance-agriculture-towards-development-nigeria-economy-fatokun
- Federal Ministry of Agriculture (FMARD) (2017). The green alternative: Nigeria's agriculture promotion policy 2016-2020 Document.
- Markets in Support of Small-Scale Agriculture in Nigeria", Published by Oxfam GB for Oxfam International under ISBN 978-1-78077-397-1 in August 2013. Oxfam GB, Oxfam House, John Smith Drive, Cowley, Oxford, OX4 2JY, UK.

Olomola, Aderibigbe (2015a) "Smoothing Food Price Trends in Nigeria: Political Economy Issues and Policy Vistas", WIDER Working Paper No. 2015/153. December, UNU World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER). Helsinki, Finland.

World Bank (2017) World Development Indicators. https://data.worldbank.org/products/wdi

UNIT 5 UNIVERSITIES/COLLEGES AND TECHNICAL SCHOOLS

CONTENTS

- 1.0 Introduction
- 2.0 Objectives
- 3.0 Main Content
 - 3.1 Education Input
 - 3.2 The "Sustainable" University
 - 3.3 Campus as an "Ecosystem"
 - 3.4 Roles
 - 3.5 Lack of Interest
- 4.0 Conclusion
- 5.0 Summary
- 6.0 Tutor-Marked Assignment
- 7.0 References/Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

It is incontrovertible that for any sustainable development to be achieved by any nation, the educational sector (especially Higher Education) must play a significant and critical role. This sector is expected to provide human capacity with leadership roles that will meet the challenges of stimulating sustainable development and the democratization of knowledge. Universities, we argue, hold a particular unique influence on society in that they train and educate people and because they participate in governance at the national and regional level. Hence, they represent pivotal socio-cultural settings for practical change in navigation towards a more sustainable future.

2.0 OBJECTIVES

At the end of this unit, you should be able to:

- discuss the effect both positive and negative effect of tertiary institutions on biodiversity effort
- explain the role of the students in biodiversity conservation.

3.0 MAIN CONTENT

3.1 Education Input

The education sector in totality is not faring better as there is an annual inadequate and inconsistent budgetary allocation distributed as

subvention or grants to the different levels of education through coordinating agencies of education e.g. National Universities Commission (NUC).

3.2 The "Sustainable" University

Entrepreneurial Universities are important governance actors in promoting sustainable development goals since they provide expertise, knowhow and contribute to regional development. Universities could therefore play a role to make these goals possible in education, research, policy formation and information exchange. As a community the role of the university in advancing the sustainability agenda cannot be underestimated since it is often recognized that achieving societal change is best pursued at the level of groups and local communities.

3.3 Campus as an "Ecosystem"

University and college campuses often cover quite large tracts of land, in some cases even containing golf courses. There are ample evidence showing that natural areas can enhance students' authentic learning opportunities of biodiversity. Schools, colleges and universities are settings with a potential to offset the present human disconnection of nature and instead restore the emotional affinity with nature. Hence, the natural areas of the university campus can be regarded as a place where learning occurs.

3.4 Roles

Universities/Technical Schools; conducts research on the control and management of species under in situ and ex situ conservation methods and train manpower for the execution of conservation programmes of government.

3.5 Lack of Interest

Although many Colleges or universities have programs for the study of biodiversity conservation, many students do not see the great potential in forest and wildlife resources. Hence they do not like studying courses in Universities or Colleges that focuses on forest and wildlife resources. So lack of interest poses a serious barrier on Colleges and Universities in promoting conservation efforts.

4.0 CONCLUSION

This unit has focused on what role higher educational institutions could play in reconnecting people to the biosphere; Universities could play a much more active role as change agents for sustainability in different cultures and contexts. Given their pivotal role in society and the potential for mutual learning, higher education platforms have a unique potential to catalyze "multipliers of sustainability impacting on a societal transition towards sustainability.

5.0 SUMMARY

In this unit, we have learnt about:

- the beneficial as well as the negative effect of Universities and Colleges in forest and wildlife resources conservation.
- the challenges facing Universities and Colleges in biodiversity conservation

6.0 TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT

- 1. List all the benefit of tertiary institutions in biodiversity conservation
- 2. Explain the challenges the tertiary institutions are facing.

7.0 REFERENCES/FURTHER READING

- Adegeye A.O. and Azeez I.O. 2006. Challenges of Funding Forestry Education and Research for Sustainable Forestry Development in Nigeria. In: Popoola, L. (Ed.) Forestry at Crossroads in Nigeria. Proceedings of the 31st Annual Conference of the Forestry Association of Nigeria held in Makurdi, Benue State, Nigeria from 20th to 25th November, 2006. Pp. 558-574.
- Daniels, J. Commentary: Free the Public Universities. Chronicles High. Educ. 2016, 5. Available online: https://www.chronicle.com/article/Free-the-Public-Universities/236372 (accessed on 16 December 2017).
- Ejidike BN (2010). Biodiversity in Nigeria: Non-consumptive values perspective. J. Food Agric. Environ. (Finland) 8(3&4):1394-1396.
- European Commision. Towards an EU Research and Innovation Policy Agenda for Nature-Based Solutions & Re-Naturing Cities. Final Report of the Horizon 2020 Expert Group on "Nature-Based Solutions and Re-Naturing Cities" (Full Version); European Commision: Brussels, Belgium, 2015.

Schewenius, M.; Erixon Aalto, H.; Rawaf, R.; Barthel, S.; Colding, J.; Andersson, E. Science Report: Campus Albano—On Integrated Planning and Social-Ecological Urban Design; Stockholm Resilience Centre: Stockholm, Sweden, 2017.